# QUANTUM

# REALISM

# AND

# QUANTUM

# SURREALISM

Master's thesis Presented to the Graduate Program in Physics of the Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais

Author: Mateus Araújo Santos Supervisor: Marcelo O. Terra Cunha

June, 2012

... we always have had a great deal of difficulty in understanding the world view that quantum mechanics represents. At least I do, because I'm an old enough man that I haven't got to the point that this stuff is obvious to me. Okay, I still get nervous with it. And therefore, some of the younger students... you know how it always is, every new idea, it takes a generation or two until it becomes obvious that there's no real problem. It has not yet become obvious to me that there's no real problem. I cannot define the real problem, therefore I suspect there's no real problem, but I'm not sure there's no real problem.

Richard Feynman

## Agradecimentos

À minha Luciana, por ter me feito um homem feliz e por ter conseguido controlar seus ciúmes dessa minha amante.

Aos meus pais, por serem quem são, e por me tornarem quem sou. Seu apoio foi e ainda é indispensável.

Ao meu orientador Marcelo Terra Cunha, por ter me dado a liberdade de putanejar enquanto eu podia, e por ter me mandado trabalhar quando eu precisava.

Ao meu grande amigo Marco Túlio Quintino, sem quem essa dissertação seria muito pior.

Ao Marcelo França, pelas conversas fiadas que me impediam de trabalhar, e por me impedir de ignorar suas sugestões.

A Gláucia Murta, pela ajuda indispensável em ler e reler a dissertação em busca de erros e passagens obscuras. Qualquer falha de matemática ou de estilo que tenha permanecido no texto é culpa dela. Também agradeço por ser um recurso local capaz de realizar protocolos inacessíveis a uma pessoa altamente não-local.

Aos meus amigos da Pós, agradeço pelo bom ambiente. Vocês tornam possível ser feliz e aprender física.

Aos professores da Pós, por tudo o que me ensinaram, e por tudo o que não me ensinaram.

# Contents

C	Contents 4					
In	Introduction 8					
N	otatio	on and definitions	10			
1	Ont	ological embeddings of quantum theory	11			
	1.1	What is an ontological theory?	11			
		1.1.1 On mixed states and POVMs	12			
	1.2	Ontological models	13			
		1.2.1 The naïve ontology	13			
		1.2.2 Constructing a deterministic ontological model	15			
	1.3	$\psi$ -ontic and $\psi$ -epistemic models	16			
		1.3.1 The Kochen-Specker model	17			
		1.3.2 Two theorems on $\psi$ -epistemic models	18			
	1.4	Contextuality	21			
	1.5	Contextuality for preparation procedures	24			
	1.6	Gleason theorems	27			
		1.6.1 von Neumann's theorem	27			
		1.6.2 Gleason's theorem	29			
		1.6.3 Busch's theorem	30			
		1.6.4 Wrapping up	31			
	1.7	The Kochen-Specker theorem	32			
		1.7.1 An 18-projector proof by Cabello, Estebaranz, and García-				
		Alcaine	33			
		1.7.2 A 13-projector proof by Yu and Oh	34			
		1.7.3 A 9-observable proof by Peres and Mermin	35			
	1.8	Ontological excess baggage	36			
	1.9	How to make an ontological theory?	38			
		1.9.1 The Bell model	38			
		1.9.2 The Lewis-Jennings-Barrett-Rudolph model	38			
2	Rev	ealing surrealism	40			
	2.1	The correct definition of contextuality	40			
	2.2	The marginal problem	44			
	2.3	A first example	48			
	2.4	Boole inequalities	49			

	2.4.1	Sets of marginal models	49		
	2.4.2	Representing marginal models	51		
	2.4.3	The noncontextual polytope for $OS$	52		
2.5	The <i>n</i>	-cycle	53		
	2.5.1	Quantum violations	56		
	2.5.2	The CHSH inequality	57		
	2.5.3	The Klyachko inequality	58		
2.6	Boole	inequalities as graphs	58		
	2.6.1	Tsirelson bounds for the <i>n</i> -cycle	61		
2.7 State-independent Boole inequalities					
	2.7.1	A Boole inequality from the 18-projector proof by Ca-			
		bello, Estebaranz, and García-Alcaine	62		
	2.7.2	A Boole inequality from Yu and Oh's 13-projector proof	62		
	2.7.3	A Boole inequality from the Peres-Mermin square	62		
Conclu	sion		64		
A The Bell-Mermin model					
Bibliography					

### Abstract

In this thesis we explore the question: "what's strange about quantum mechanics?"

This exploration is divided in two parts: in the first, we prove that there is in fact something strange about quantum mechanics, by showing that it is not possible to conciliate quantum theory with various different definitions of what should be a "normal" theory, that is, a theory that respects our classical intuition. In the second part, our objective is to describe precisely which parts of quantum mechanics are "non-classical". For that, we define a "classical" theory as a noncontextual ontological theory, and the "non-classical" parts of quantum mechanics as being the probability distributions that a ontological noncontextual theory cannot reproduce. Exploring this formalism, we find a new family of inequalities that characterize "non-classicality".

### Resumo

Nessa dissertação exploramos a questão: "o que há de estranho em mecânica quântica?"

Essa exploração se divide em duas partes: na primeira, provamos que de fato há algo estranho em mecânica quântica, mostrando que não é possível conciliar o formalismo quântico com várias definições diferentes do que seria uma teoria "normal", isto é, que respeite nossa intuição clássica sobre o mundo. Na segunda parte, nosso objetivo é descrever precisamente quais partes da mecânica quântica são "não-clássicas". Para isso, definimos uma teoria "clássica" como uma teoria ontológica não-contextual, e as partes "não-clássicas" da mecânica quântica como sendo as distribuições de probabilidade que uma teoria ontológica não-contextual não consegue reproduzir. Explorando esse formalismo, encontramos uma nova família de desigualdades que caracterizam essa "não-classicalidade".

### Introduction

Quantum mechanics is magic Daniel Greenberger

This thesis is meant to explore the question posed by Chris Fuchs: what is "Zing!" [1]? What is the property of quantum mechanics which is essentially quantum, absent from any classical theory? Contrary to the goals of Chris Fuchs, our exploration is operationalist rather than axiomatic: our "Zing!" is not a deep axiom that reveals the essence of quantum theory, but rather logically connected sets of probability distributions that cannot be reproduced by any classical theory. Although finding his axiom would be nice, we feel that our approach is more useful, as these sets of probability distributions are the resources needed for *quantum magic*: quantum computing and quantum key distribution.

This is emphatically not a historical account of the subject: these are plentiful, and another one is unnecessary. Therefore, we shall try to keep references to the great works of von Neumann, Bell, Kochen, and Specker to a bare minimum, while emphasising the newer<sup>1</sup> works of Abramsky, Busch, Cabello, Hardy, Pitowsky, and Spekkens. The sole exception shall be the work of George Boole, that although very old is still very unknown.

Given a general picture of my motivations and goals, let me now give a more detailed account of the structure of this thesis.

Chapter 1 presents introductory material<sup>2</sup> on the question "is quantum mechanics really different from 'classical' theories?". It begins by capturing some notions of classicality within the framework of ontological theories; then this question is made more precise as "is there an ontological embedding of quantum theory?".

The chapter proceeds by detailing specific ontological models, and showing which problems arise in trying to reproduce the results of quantum mechanics within them. These problems are then understood as their failure to respect noncontextuality, a notion that we argue to be fundamental in defining classicality. After giving a precise definition of noncontextuality, we proceed to prove Spekkens' theorem of the impossibility of embedding quantum theory within a preparation noncontextual ontological model.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>As a result, the median year of publishing of our references is 2002.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The reader that is already well-acquainted with the subject (or a mathematician) may find it better to skip it.

#### INTRODUCTION

We proceed then to revisit our assumptions, and try to find whether a less ambitious notion of classicality can embed quantum theory. To do that, we revisit the historical theorems of von Neumann and Gleason, culminating with the recent version of Busch. In each of their frameworks, a "classical" formulation of quantum mechanics is again ruled out.

The next stop is the famous theorem of Kochen and Specker, that uses the weakest assumptions yet. We present three recent versions of it, by Cabello *et al.*, Yu and Oh, and Peres and Mermin, that are considerable simplifications of the original proof.

The chapter concludes by presenting a recent theorem of Hardy, that "any ontological embedding of quantum theory is very uncomfortable", and two specific contextual ontological embeddings of quantum theory.

Our conclusion is then that any *reasonable* ontological embedding of quantum theory is impossible; therefore there *is* something more in quantum mechanics that classical theories cannot quite capture. Chapter 2 is then dedicated to detail what this something is.

We begin by constructing our final definition of noncontextuality. Based on the recent work of Abramsky and Brandenburger, we show that the Fine theorem admits a natural generalization that applies to any set of observables, without regard to spatial separation. This generalization in its turn motivates a definition of noncontextuality that is a natural generalization of the definition of locality, with mostly the same mathematical structure – this allows us to consider generalizations of Bell inequalities that test noncontextuality instead of locality. Interestingly, this "new" definition was already implicit in the ancient works of Boole (and in the more recent works by Pitowsky), which motivates us to call these generalized Bell inequalities *Boole* inequalities.

This "new" approach is then formalized via a classical problem in mathematics, the marginal problem. Using its formalism, we gain access to powerful tools to separate contextual from noncontextual probability distributions, and with them derive a new result: a set of Boole inequalities that completely describes an infinite family of noncontextual polytopes.

### Notation and definitions

The purpose of this part of the thesis is only to establish notation, not to teach quantum mechanics to anyone. If one needs such an introduction, we recommend the excellent book of Michael Nielsen and Isaac Chuang [2].

We say that an operator *A* is self-adjoint, *i.e.*,  $A = A^*$ , if  $\langle \phi | A \psi \rangle = \langle A \phi | \psi \rangle = \langle \phi | A | \psi \rangle$  for all  $| \phi \rangle$ ,  $| \psi \rangle$ . We shall only deal with finite-dimensional operators. The set of all self-ajoint operators is  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H})$ .

A quantum-mechanical observable is a self-adjoint operator.

We say that an operator *A* is positive, *i.e.*,  $A \ge 0$ , if  $\langle \psi | A | \psi \rangle \ge 0$  for all  $| \psi \rangle$ . A quantum state  $\rho$  is a positive operator such that  $0 \le \operatorname{tr} \rho \le 1$  [3]. Since we shall have no use for states such that  $\operatorname{tr} \rho < 1$ , we can omit the normalization of our quantum states without ambiguity. The set of all quantum states is  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H})$ . A pure quantum state is an extremal point of  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H})$ , a rank-one projector  $\psi$ . The vector of a pure quantum state will be denoted by  $|\psi\rangle$ , and the vectors are connected to the projectors by

$$\psi = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|.$$

The set of all pure states is  $\mathcal{PH}$ .

An effect *E* is a positive operator smaller than identity, *i.e.*,  $0 \le E \le 1$ . The set of all effects is  $\mathcal{E}(\mathcal{H})$ . A set of effects  $\{E_i\}$  such that  $\sum_i E_i = 1$  describes a measurement<sup>3</sup> and is called a POVM.

A projector  $\Pi$  is a self-adjoint operator such that  $\Pi^2 = \Pi$ . The set of all projectors is  $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H})$ . A set of projectors  $\{\Pi_i\}$  such that  $\sum_i \Pi_i = \mathbb{1}$  describes a measurement and is called a PVM. Note that a PVM is a special case of a POVM.

The Born rule is the quantum mechanical rule for associating measurement probabilities with states and effects. We say that

$$p(i|\rho, E) = \operatorname{tr} \rho E_i.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Except for the post-measurement state.

### Chapter 1

# Ontological embeddings of quantum theory

Classical measurements reveal information. Quantum measurements produce information. Marcelo Terra Cunha

The quest for embedding quantum mechanics in a "classical" theory is almost as old as quantum theory itself. People were disturbed with the role of measurement in the theory, particularly with its intrinsic randomness and non-repeatability. So they tried to explain away these features as emergent, rather than fundamental, as if they appeared because of a lack of control and understanding of a more refined theory, that would describe the "deeper" physics behind quantum phenomena. We call this refined theory an *ontological* theory.

But despite being familiar, the words "classical" and "ontological" have very fuzzy meanings. In the next section we shall pin them down and clarify them.

#### **1.1** What is an ontological theory?

The first ontological models that appeared tried to "solve" the problem of non-determinism. They postulated that  $\psi$  was not the real state of nature, but rather some kind of shadow of it. So they postulated that there *was* a real state, an ontic state<sup>1</sup>, called  $\lambda$ , that if known would render all measurement outcomes deterministic. That is, given a PVM<sup>2</sup>  $M = \{M_k\}$ , the probability of outcome *k* given  $\lambda$  would be either 0 or 1, that is, we can define a response function

$$\xi_{k|M}: \Lambda \to \{0,1\},\$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The reader that is well-acquainted with the subject might be wondering when the expression "hidden-variable" will appear. Well, it won't.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Even the most determined determinist can't hope for a POVM to be deterministic. We'll explain why in a while.

such that  $\xi_{k|M}(\lambda)$  is the probability of outcome *k*. Here,  $\Lambda$  is any space in which our ontic states  $\lambda$  are defined, and to account for the fact that  $\sum_k M_k = 1$ , we require that  $\sum_k \xi_{k|M}(\lambda) = 1$  for all  $\lambda$ . This is just the requirement that some outcome must occur in a measurement.

Then the *subjective* indeterminism of quantum theory would be recovered by the ignorance of which ontic states were really present in a experiment. That is, a quantum state  $\psi$  would determine a probability distribution  $\mu_{\psi}(\lambda)$ over  $\Lambda$ . This property can be thought of as "you were trying to generate state  $\psi$ , but you ended up generating an ensemble of ontic states  $\mu_{\psi}(\lambda)$ ". As in quantum (and classical) mechanics, we shall call the ensemble  $\mu_{\psi}(\lambda)$  itself a state, while reserving the term pure ontic state for the individual  $\lambda$ , which can of course be represented as an ensemble with a  $\delta$  distribution.

Of course, we want this subjective indeterminism to agree with the predictions of quantum mechanics, so

$$p(k|\psi, M) = \int_{\Lambda} d\lambda \, \mu_{\psi}(\lambda) \xi_{k|M}(\lambda) = \operatorname{tr} \psi M_k.$$
(1.1)

#### 1.1.1 On mixed states and POVMs

The early literature of ontological theories did not do this separation between states and measurements<sup>3</sup> [4, 5]; instead they tried to define a deterministic value function  $v(M_k, \psi, \lambda)$  that would answer with certainty the outcome of an experiment, given the quantum state and the ontic state, and recover the quantum statistics by averaging over  $\lambda$ . This is quite problematic, since it can only describe models in which  $\psi$  itself has an ontic status<sup>4</sup>; it therefore can never describe experiments where the quantum state is explicitly epistemic, *e.g.*, a mixed state. For instance, let's say we have two pure states  $\psi$  and  $\phi$  with different deterministic outcomes  $v(M_k, \psi, \lambda)$  and  $v(M_k, \phi, \lambda)$ . Then if I prepare state  $\psi$  with probability p or state  $\phi$  with probability (1 - p), corresponding to the mixed state  $\rho = p\psi + (1 - p)\phi$ , the outcome must be

$$v(M_k,\rho,\lambda) = pv(M_k,\psi,\lambda) + (1-p)v(M_k,\phi,\lambda),$$

which is neither 0 nor 1 for non-trivial *p*, a contradiction.

Using probability distributions like we do, this can be accommodated in a very natural manner:

**Lemma 1.** If one prepares the quantum states  $\psi_i$  with probabilities  $p_i$ , then the corresponding ontic state is

$$\mu_{(p_i,\psi_i)}(\lambda) = \sum_i p_i \mu_{\psi_i}(\lambda)$$

*Proof.* Quantum mechanics tells us that  $p(k|(p_i, \psi_i), M) = \sum_i p_i p(k|\psi_i, M)$ . Writing these probabilities ontologically, we have<sup>5</sup>

$$\int_{\Lambda} \mu_{(p_i,\psi_i)} \xi_{k|M} = \sum_i p_i \int_{\Lambda} \mu_{\psi_i} \xi_{k|M}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>With the honourable exception of the Kochen-Specker model, discussed in section 1.3.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>See section 1.3 for further discussion of this point.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>When doing calculations we shall often omit the integration variable  $\lambda$ , but only when there's no risk of ambiguity.

Since  $\xi_{k|M}$  is positive and arbitrary, this implies that

$$\mu_{(p_i,\psi_i)}(\lambda) = \sum_i p_i \mu_{\psi_i}(\lambda).$$

Note that this same rule is used to describe convex combinations of states in quantum and classical mechanics.

The issue with POVMs is similar: one can implement the POVM

$$E = \{p|0\rangle\langle 0|, p|1\rangle\langle 1|, (1-p)|+\rangle\langle +|, (1-p)|-\rangle\langle -|\}$$

simply by measuring the PVM  $M = \{|0\rangle\langle 0|, |1\rangle\langle 1|\}$  with probability p and the PVM  $N = \{|+\rangle\langle +|, |-\rangle\langle -|\}$  with probability 1 - p [6]; we must have then  $\xi_{0|E}(\lambda) = p\xi_{0|M}(\lambda)$ , which is obviously not deterministic. We must accept, then, that for these kinds of "mixed" POVMs<sup>6</sup> the response functions must be modified to

$$\xi_{k|E}: \Lambda \to [0,1],$$

that is, allowing the whole interval [0, 1] as image.

For "pure" POVMs, this argument does not apply, and we can not decide *a priori* whether to demand them to be deterministic. In fact, it is fruitful to allow even PVMs to be objectively non-deterministic<sup>7</sup>, so we shall not exclude this possibility.

The most general case is, therefore,

$$p(k|\rho, E) = \int_{\Lambda} d\lambda \mu_{\rho}(\lambda) \xi_{k|E}(\lambda) = \operatorname{tr} \rho E_{k}, \qquad (1.2)$$

and this is what an ontological theory should strive to reproduce, only falling back to pure states and PVMs when unavoidable.

#### 1.2 Ontological models

With the definitions given in the previous section, it is already possible to construct some examples of ontological theories, to examine their features in a more concrete manner.

#### **1.2.1** The naïve ontology

If we allow an ontological model to have objective non-determinism, what we gain in relation to quantum mechanics? Not much, actually. This ontological model is so similar to quantum mechanics that it can be confounded with a naïve interpretation of it, that ascribes ontological status to the pure states. Nevertheless, it is quite useful to examine meticulously this ontological

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Following [6], we are calling "mixed" the POVMs that can be written as a convex combination of different POVMs, and "pure" those who can't.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>However discomforting that may seem for some people, it's certainly a milder discomfort than abandoning the notion of reality altogether as in quantum mechanics. See section **1.2.1**.

model, to be aware of the problems that such a naïve interpretation has. This particular model was first proposed by [7], and further explored in [8].

In this model, we are considering the pure states  $\psi$  to be the ontic states  $\lambda$ , so we identify the ontic state space  $\Lambda$  with  $\mathcal{PH}$ , and define

$$u_{\psi}(\lambda) = \delta(\lambda - \psi).$$

The response function is then

$$\xi_{k|E}(\lambda) = \operatorname{tr} \lambda E_k,$$

and we recover the results of quantum mechanics by

$$p(k|\psi, E) = \int_{\Lambda} \mathrm{d}\lambda \,\delta(\lambda - \psi) \operatorname{tr}\lambda E_k = \operatorname{tr}\psi E_k.$$

We can see, then, that mathematically this ontological model is quite trivial. One interesting thing to examine, though, is the representation of mixed states in this formalism. Following lemma 1, we see that

$$\rho = \sum_{i} p_i \psi_i \quad \mapsto \quad \mu_{\rho}(\lambda) = \sum_{i} p_i \delta(\lambda - \psi_i),$$

which trivially reproduces the required quantum statistics. The problem with this approach, however, is that the ontic state  $\mu_{\rho}(\lambda)$  depends on which convex decomposition of  $\rho$  we chose to use. This makes the the notation  $\mu_{\rho}$  suspect, since it should actually be  $\mu_{(p_i,\psi_i)}$ , and blatantly violates the *C*\*-algebraic definition of state [9], that requires that states that gives rises to the same statistics to have the same mathematical representation. We call this (unwanted) feature preparation contextuality, which we shall define more carefully in section **1.4**.

Remember that it is common for beginners to be surprised by the fact that it is impossible to know which convex combination was actually used to construct a given density matrix. Regarding the pure states as ontological, this feeling becomes quite natural, since the mystery is why should the state  $\mu_{(p_i,\psi_i)}$  give the same statistics as the state  $\mu_{(q_i,\phi_i)}$  when  $\sum_i p_i \psi_i = \sum_i q_i \phi_i$ .

To solve this problem, one might be tempted to ignore common sense (and lemma 1) and ascribe ontological status to mixed states, identifying  $\Lambda$  with  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H})$  instead of  $\mathcal{PH}$ ; then the ontic states would be just

$$\mu_{\rho}(\lambda) = \delta(\lambda - \rho),$$

relieving us of the basis-dependence. But this is in fact a terrible idea, since one can always write a mixed state  $\rho$  as a convex combination of two different states  $\sigma_0$  and  $\sigma_1$ , as

$$\rho = p\sigma_0 + (1-p)\sigma_1.$$

If you want to regard every mixed state as ontological, you have, by lemma 1,

$$\delta(\lambda - \rho) = p\delta(\lambda - \sigma_0) + (1 - p)\delta(\lambda - \sigma_1),$$

a flat-out contradiction.

One can now begin to suspect that it is not possible to avoid preparation contextuality; this will be proved in section 1.5. For now, we see that even the most humble ontological model, that does not even provide determinism, already has some very undesirable features. It would be a question then if a deterministic ontological model is even possible; fortunately this question was answered a long time ago in the positive. We shall see how in the next subsection.

#### 1.2.2 Constructing a deterministic ontological model

In 1964, Bell had an idea on how to make a deterministic ontological model [4]: hide the quantum mechanical probability of an outcome in the measure of the set of ontic states associated to that outcome. I shall present here a modified version of his model that makes this point quite clear.

This model can describe in a deterministic way the measurement of a one-qubit PVM  $\Pi = {\Pi_0, \Pi_1}$ . The ontic space is  $\Lambda = \mathcal{PH} \times [0, 1]$ , with ontic variable  $\lambda = (\lambda_{\psi}, \lambda_x)$ . The ontic state of a given quantum state  $\psi$  is

$$\mu_{\psi}(\lambda_{\psi},\lambda_{x}) = \delta(\lambda_{\psi} - \psi),$$

and the response functions<sup>8</sup> are

$$\begin{split} \xi_{0|\Pi}(\lambda_{\psi},\lambda_{x}) &= \Theta(\operatorname{tr}\lambda_{\psi}\Pi_{0}-\lambda_{x})\\ \xi_{1|\Pi}(\lambda_{\psi},\lambda_{x}) &= 1 - \xi_{0|\Pi}(\lambda_{\psi},\lambda_{x}), \end{split}$$

where  $\Theta$  is the Heaviside step function defined by

$$\Theta(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \ge 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } x < 0. \end{cases}$$

One then recovers quantum statistics by uniform averaging over the ontic space:

$$p(0|\psi,\Pi) = \int_{\Lambda} \mu_{\psi} \xi_{0|\Pi}$$
  
= 
$$\int_{\Lambda} d\lambda_{\psi} d\lambda_{x} \,\delta(\lambda_{\psi} - \psi) \Theta(\operatorname{tr} \lambda_{\psi} \Pi_{0} - \lambda_{x})$$
  
= 
$$\int_{0}^{1} d\lambda_{x} \,\Theta(\operatorname{tr} \psi \Pi_{0} - \lambda_{x})$$
  
= 
$$\int_{0}^{\operatorname{tr} \psi \Pi_{0}} d\lambda_{x} = \operatorname{tr} \psi \Pi_{0}$$

The reader might have noticed that although the model claims to only work for a qubit, the mathematical formalism does not make any reference to this, and one might be tempted to think that it actually works for any two-outcome PVM. The fact that it does not work is more subtle, and we shall see why in section 1.7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Note that the response functions depend explicitly on the label of the projectors, so it would be desirable to set a consistent ordering convention to avoid giving different results to  $\{|0\rangle\langle 0|, |1\rangle\langle 1|\}$  and  $\{|1\rangle\langle 1|, |0\rangle\langle 0|\}$ .

#### **1.3** $\psi$ -ontic and $\psi$ -epistemic models

Both models presented in the previous section share a common feature: the quantum state has an ontological status. Either the ontic state is the quantum state itself, like in the naïve model, or it is the quantum state supplemented by real number in the unit interval, as in the Bell model. In both cases, knowing the (pure) ontic state  $\lambda$  of the system is enough to determine uniquely the (pure) quantum state that was prepared. These kind of models are called<sup>9</sup>  $\psi$ -ontic, and have the equivalent but more operational definition:

**Definition 2.** An ontological model is  $\psi$ -ontic if for different quantum states  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  the ontic states have disjoint support, i.e.,

$$\phi \neq \psi \quad \Rightarrow \quad \mu_{\phi}(\lambda)\mu_{\psi}(\lambda) = 0 \quad \forall \lambda$$

To motivate this definition it might be useful to make an analogy with classical mechanics: in it, an ontic state is a point in phase space, and ontic properties of it (like energy, momentum) are functions of the phase space point. Likewise, anything that is uniquely determined by the ontic state in an ontological theory should be regarded as ontic itself, as a change in it requires a change of the underlying ontic states. As the quantum state is uniquely determined by the ontic state in  $\psi$ -ontic models, it has to be regarded as ontic, as it is not possible to change it without changing the underlying ontic states.

Apart from conceptual clarity, a reason to make this definition is that it is easy to see that  $\psi$ -ontic models necessarily require instant transfer of information<sup>10</sup>. In the first case, where  $\psi$  is the whole ontic state, it suffices to consider a measurement in an entangled state: Alice and Bob share  $|\phi_+\rangle = |00\rangle + |11\rangle$  and are spatially separated, Alice then measures the PVM  $\{|0\rangle\langle 0|, |1\rangle\langle 1|\}$  and obtains, *e.g.*, the result 0. Bob's state then changes instantly from 1 to  $|0\rangle$ , violating causality. Of course, if  $\psi$  is not the whole ontic state, there is no need for a violation of causality:  $\lambda$  can tell us that the state of Bob's system actually was  $|0\rangle$  all along, and so the ontic state does not change during the measurement.

To deal with this case, we need the EPR gedankenexperiment<sup>11</sup> [13]: consider that Alice can also measure the PVM  $\{|+\rangle\langle+|,|-\rangle\langle-|\}$ ; then after her measurement Bob's state will belong to the set  $\{|0\rangle, |1\rangle\}$  if she measures the first PVM, or to the set  $\{|+\rangle, |-\rangle\}$  if Alice measures the second PVM. Even if the results of any given measurement can be predetermined by  $\lambda$ , it cannot tell *which* measurement was made<sup>12</sup>. Since Bob's quantum state does depend on which measurement was made (since the four possibilities are different), the formalism needs again instant transfer of information.

Another way to avoid the violation of causality is to say that  $\psi$  is not ontic, but merely the representation of Alice's knowledge of reality, *i.e.*, epistemic.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The concept of ontic and epistemic states was first introduced in [10], and further formalized in [8, 11]. A nice discussion of these concepts can be found in [12].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Only in the formalism, of course; if they displayed an observable violation of causality that would be a contradiction with quantum mechanics.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>The version presented here is Einstein's version, reproduced in [8].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Indeed, it could conceivably determine which measurement Alice *will* make – here we are using the assumption that she has *free will*.

Then what changed after the measurement was actually just what Alice knew about Bob's state, which is in fact a quite reasonable proposition. But this amounts to give up  $\psi$ -ontic models in favour of  $\psi$ -epistemic ones<sup>13</sup>:

#### **Definition 3.** An ontological model is $\psi$ -epistemic if it is not $\psi$ -ontic.

Again, an analogy with classical mechanics might be useful: the classical mixed state is a probability distribution over the phase space, and it is interpreted as epistemic, as it is merely an ignorance about which is the real phase space point that the system occupies. This is only possible as there is no restriction about the overlaps of different mixed states, *i.e.*, the same phase space point can belong to numerous different mixed states. Notice that this definition is quite weak compared to the classical case: it only requires that there is one pair  $\phi$ ,  $\psi$  whose ontic states  $\mu_{\phi}$  and  $\mu_{\psi}$  share a single  $\lambda$  in their support.

The obvious question to ask: is there a  $\psi$ -epistemic model?

#### **1.3.1** The Kochen-Specker model

Even before this question was raised, it was already answered by Simon Kochen and Ernst Specker [14], by the ontological model they constructed as a counterexample to von Neumann's theorem [15]. It seems that the authors were trying to make a model that was somewhat physically plausible, and ended up making a  $\psi$ -epistemic model. We presented it here as rendered in [8].

The ontic space  $\Lambda$  is the unit sphere  $S^2$ , and we shall use the Bloch vectors  $\hat{\psi}$  and  $\hat{\phi}$  to represent a pure state  $\psi$  and a measurement projector  $\phi$  in  $S^2$  as well, defined via the isomorphism  $\psi = \frac{1}{2}(\mathbb{1} + \hat{\psi} \cdot \sigma)$ . The ontic state is then

$$\mu_{\psi}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\pi} \Theta(\hat{\psi} \cdot \lambda) \hat{\psi} \cdot \lambda,$$

making the model clearly  $\psi$ -epistemic, since the only states that do not overlap are orthogonal states. The response function is given by

$$\xi_{\phi}(\lambda) = \Theta(\hat{\phi} \cdot \lambda).$$

To recover the quantum statistics, notice that each of  $\mu_{\psi}$  and  $\xi_{\phi}$  has as support an hemisphere centred in  $\hat{\psi}$  and  $\hat{\phi}$ , so their intersection defines a spherical lune. To take advantage of this, let's choose coordinates such that  $\hat{\psi}$  and  $\hat{\phi}$ lie in the equator of  $S^2$ , so that  $\hat{\psi} = (\cos \psi, \sin \psi, 0)$ ,  $\hat{\phi} = (\cos \phi, \sin \phi, 0)$ , and

 $<sup>^{13}</sup>$  It is interesting to notice that although we've known this since 1935, the first ontological models were all  $\psi$ -ontic.

 $\lambda = (\sin\theta\cos\varphi, \sin\theta\sin\varphi, \cos\theta)$ . We have then

$$\begin{split} p(\phi|\psi) &= \int_{\Lambda} d\lambda \, \frac{1}{\pi} \Theta(\hat{\psi} \cdot \lambda) \hat{\psi} \cdot \lambda \Theta(\hat{\phi} \cdot \lambda) \\ &= \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{S^2} d\Omega \, \Theta(\sin\theta \cos(\varphi - \psi)) \sin\theta \cos(\varphi - \psi) \Theta(\sin\theta \cos(\varphi - \phi)) \\ &= \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\pi} d\theta \, \sin^2\theta \int_0^{2\pi} d\varphi \, \Theta(\cos(\varphi - \psi)) \cos(\varphi - \psi) \Theta(\cos(\varphi - \phi)) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\phi - \frac{\pi}{2}}^{\psi + \frac{\pi}{2}} d\varphi \, \cos(\varphi - \psi) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (1 - \sin(\phi - \psi - \pi/2)) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (1 + \cos(\phi - \psi)) \\ &= \operatorname{tr} \psi \phi. \end{split}$$

This model does seem to be the most "natural" of the ontological models yet considered, and there have even been attempts to understand it physically [16]. In this same article, Terry Rudolph explores extensions of the Kochen-Specker model to higher dimensions, but fails to precisely reproduce quantum mechanics with them. Albeit it was  $\psi$ -epistemic model for higher dimensions has since then been found (we discuss it in section 1.9.2), it does not have the simplicity of the Kochen-Specker model, and so it would be unfair to call it an extension of it.

#### **1.3.2** Two theorems on $\psi$ -epistemic models

We can see, then, that  $\psi$ -epistemic models are desirable and can actually be constructed. There are, however, two theorems that say that any such model, if it exists, has to be very unnatural. They are both based on the following idea:

**Lemma 4.** If there are quantum states  $\psi_i$  and measurements  $E_i$  such that tr  $\psi_i E_i = 0$  $\forall i$ , then there can be no  $\lambda_0$  in the support of all  $\mu_{\psi_i}$ .

*Proof.* If these conditions are satisfied, then it must be true that

$$\int_{\Lambda} \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mu_{\psi_i}(\lambda) \xi_{i|E}(\lambda) = 0,$$

and therefore that  $\xi_{i|E}(\lambda) = 0$  for all  $\lambda$  in the support of  $\mu_{\psi_i}$ . If there is a  $\lambda_0$  in the support of all the  $\mu_{\psi_i}$ , making the model  $\psi$ -epistemic, then  $\sum_i \xi_{i|E}(\lambda_0) = 0$ , an absurd, since in the definition of the response functions we require that  $\sum_i \xi_{i|E}(\lambda) = 1$  for all  $\lambda$ .

Of course, if we could prove that for *any* pair of states the hypothesis of the lemma are satisfied, we would have proven that no  $\psi$ -epistemic model is possible; but for a pair of states the hypothesis of the lemma are satisfied only if they are orthogonal, and by lemma 13 they must have disjoint support anyway:

**Lemma 5.** If there are quantum states  $\psi_0$ ,  $\psi_1$  and measurements E,  $\mathbb{1} - E$  such that tr  $\psi_0 E = \text{tr } \psi_1(\mathbb{1} - E) = 0$ , then  $\psi_0 \psi_1 = 0$ 

*Proof.* tr  $\psi_1(\mathbb{1} - E) = 0 \implies \text{tr } \psi_1 E = 1$ , so the support of  $\psi_1$  is contained in the support of *E*. But tr  $\psi_0 E = 0$  implies that the supports of  $\psi_0$  and *E* are disjoint, and therefore the supports of  $\psi_0$  and  $\psi_1$  are disjoint, so  $\psi_0 \psi_1 = 0$ 

Instead, the two theorems we shall present consider larger families: the first considers families of three states to show that there are non-trivial examples, and the second argues that the existence of some specific families implies that any  $\psi$ -epistemic model must be very unnatural.

**Theorem 6** (Caves, Fuchs, Shack [17]). *If the convex hull of a family of states*  $\psi_i$  *contains* 1/d, *where d is the Hilbert space dimension, then there can be no*  $\lambda_0$  *in the common support of all*  $\mu_{\psi_i}$ .

*Proof.* For any state  $\psi_i$ , it is true that tr  $\psi_i(\mathbb{1} - \psi_i) = 0$ . If we can find coefficients  $\alpha_i$  such that  $\{\alpha_i(\mathbb{1} - \psi_i)\}$  is a POVM, then lemma 4 applies and we're done. What we need is

$$\sum_i \alpha_i (\mathbb{1} - \psi_i) = \mathbb{1},$$

for  $\alpha_i \ge 0$ . Taking the trace on both sides we get that  $\sum_i \alpha_i = \frac{d}{d-1}$ . Simple algebra then shows us that

$$\sum_i rac{d-1}{d} lpha_i \psi_i = rac{1}{d} \mathbb{1}.$$

This theorem was first proven in [17], with a different objective. While it does not exclude  $\psi$ -epistemic models, it shows there are a wide variety of families of states that can't have an overlap. If the number of states is three, there are already examples in any dimension where they are not orthogonal; see equations (1.6) for an example.

The next theorem needs the following (very natural, in the author's opinion) assumption about the composition of different systems:

**Assumption 1.** *If two quantum states*  $\phi$  *and*  $\psi$  *are prepared independently, such that their joint state is*  $\phi \otimes \psi$ *, then the corresponding ontic state for the joint system is*  $\mu_{\phi \otimes \psi}(\lambda_A, \lambda_B) = \mu_{\phi}(\lambda_A)\mu_{\psi}(\lambda_B)$ .

**Theorem 7** (Pusey, Barret, Rudolph<sup>14</sup> [18]). *Given assumption* 1, *no*  $\psi$ *-epistemic ontological model of quantum mechanics is possible.* 

*Proof.* Consider the four quantum states  $\phi_0 \otimes \phi_0$ ,  $\phi_0 \otimes \phi_1$ ,  $\phi_1 \otimes \phi_0$ , and  $\phi_1 \otimes \phi_1$ . If there is a  $\lambda_0$  in the support of  $\mu_{\phi_0}$  and  $\mu_{\phi_1}$ , then  $(\lambda_0, \lambda_0)$  is in the support of all four  $\mu_{\phi_i}(\lambda')\mu_{\phi_j}(\lambda'')$ . If there is a POVM  $\{E_{ij}\}$  such that tr  $\phi_i \otimes \phi_j E_{ij} = 0$ , then lemma 4 applies and we're done.

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>$  We consider this article to be written in a very misleading way, so be warned to not take it seriously. For a sober version of it, see [12].

Consider now the particular case  $|\phi_0\rangle = |0\rangle$  and  $|\phi_1\rangle = |+\rangle$ . Then if  $E_{ij}$  is the projector onto  $|E_{ij}\rangle = |\phi_i\phi_i^{\perp}\rangle + |\phi_i^{\perp}\phi_j\rangle$ , it is easy to see that

$$\mathrm{tr}\,\phi_i\otimes\phi_iE_{ij}=\langle\phi_i\phi_j|E_{ij}
angle=0,$$

and it is also easy (but tedious) to check that  $\sum_{ij} E_{ij} = 1$ . Unfortunately, this simple strategy only works for this pair of states, and states with smaller overlap require measurements on a larger number of parts. For the proof of the general case, see the original article [18].

This theorem has two immediate corollaries:

#### Corollary 8. Any ontological model of quantum mechanics must violate causality.

One only has to notice that since the theorem excludes  $\psi$ -epistemic models, we're left with  $\psi$ -ontic ones. And we have shown that those violate causality in the beginning of this section.

#### **Corollary 9.** *The ontic state space* $\Lambda$ *is uncountable.*

In a  $\psi$ -ontic model there is an injection of  $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H})$  onto  $\Lambda$ . Since  $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H})$  is uncountable,  $\Lambda$  must be uncountable. In fact, even if without assumption **1** we can still prove that  $\Lambda$  is infinite; we shall do this in section **1**.8.

The obvious question that this theorem raises is: can we do away with assumption 1 and prove once and for all that  $\psi$ -epistemic models are always impossible? The existence of the Kochen-Specker model already hints that at least some weaker assumption is needed, since it is a *bona fide*  $\psi$ -epistemic model. Of course, its existence does not contradict the theorem, since it only forbids models for dimension 4 or greater. In fact, soon after the Pusey-Barret-Rudolph was published, some of the same authors showed that without assumption 1 they could make a  $\psi$ -epistemic model for a quantum system of any dimension. We shall describe this model in section 1.9.2.

This theorem already hints of a theme that shall be recurrent in the search for ontological models: we can in fact make ontological models for quantum theory, and in fact we can make them almost in any way that we like, but there's a price to pay: the various aspects of the model become more and more intertwined. We can't really talk of independent quantum systems, separation between state and experiment, nor even (as we shall see in the next section) talk about a measurement outcome without talking about the whole experiment. Of course, this bodes very badly for the idea of ontological models: in the extreme limit of this interdependence our ontological model only lists possible experiments and their results, without ever trying to make sense of them in a simpler and more general theory. A model like this wouldn't be falsifiable by its very nature, but precisely because of this it is a perversion of the scientific method [19], and should therefore be rejected on methodological grounds.

What we seek, therefore, is not *any* ontological model, but one that might have some plausibleness. The ontological models present hitherto are of course very contrived, but by themselves they should not be taken as an

evidence against the possibility of a reasonable ontological model, since they were conceived only as proofs of principle, without any inspiration from physical grounds.

#### 1.4 Contextuality

One should contrast the state of research into contextuality to the state of research into nonlocality. It is quite clear that nonlocality has a better status: it was subjected to experimental tests much earlier<sup>15</sup>, and also had its potential as a resource for practical applications recognized much earlier<sup>16</sup>

This state of affairs has many causes, which certainly includes the intuitive appeal of nonlocality via its relation with relativity, but I'd like to focus in a more formal one: the definitions of nonlocality and contextuality. Right in the first paper about nonlocality, John Bell [24] already gave a clear operational definition of nonlocality, that was not dependent on quantum theory, but instead only on a general probabilistic framework. By contrast, the first definition of contextuality, also due to John Bell<sup>17</sup>, was very specific to quantum theory, and was not at all operational:

**Definition 10** (Bell's contextuality). We say that an ontological model for quantum theory is noncontextual if the response function associated to the outcome k of a PVM  $M = {\Pi_k}$ , i.e.,  $\xi_{k|M}(\lambda)$  depends only on  $\Pi_k$  and not on the whole M.

This definition also lacks conceptual clarity: John Bell even thought that it was reasonable for a physical theory to be contextual [4]:

The result of an observation may reasonably depend not only on the state of the system (including hidden variable) but also on the complete disposition of the apparatus.

But one consequence of contextuality is precisely the violation of causality that he abhorred: consider, for instance, the PVM

$$M = \{\Pi_0 \otimes \mathbb{1}, \Pi_1 \otimes \mathbb{1}, \mathbb{1} \otimes \Pi_0, \mathbb{1} \otimes \Pi_1\}.$$

If the real result  $\xi_{0|M}(\lambda)$ , associated with the projector  $\Pi_0 \otimes \mathbb{1}$ , depends on whether the other side of the PVM is  $\mathbb{1} \otimes \Pi_0$ ,  $\mathbb{1} \otimes \Pi_1$  or  $\mathbb{1} \otimes \Pi'_0$ ,  $\mathbb{1} \otimes \Pi'_1$ , then the apparatuses must always be able to communicate their arrangement to each other, even when the choice of arrangement is made with a space-like separation, which is of course absurd. This settles the question about ontological models of independent quantum systems. But what about single systems? Is there any unacceptable consequence of contextuality for them?

Yes! It also implies on a violation of causality. As put by Asher Peres and Amiran Ron [26]:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>1972 [20], in contrast with 2000 [21].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>1991 [22], versus 2000 [23].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>The concept appeared first in 1966 [4], in a critique of the Gleason theorem, whereas the name "contextuality" was created in 1978 [25], by Clauser and Shimony.

More generally, if [A, B] = [A, C] = 0 but  $[B, C] \neq 0$ , suppose that we measure *A* first and only a later time decide whether to measure *B* or *C* or none of them. How can the outcome of the measurement *A* depend on this future decision?

Furthermore, this whole story about communicating apparatuses is quite queer, even when it is not a violation of causality. After all, all the evidence we have is that the measurement of commuting observables does not affect each other, and an ontological theory that requires this kind of communication would be very weird indeed. Another problem is that this communication could affect only the individual measurements  $\xi_{i|M}(\lambda)$ , and must never be detectable in the quantum experiments we do. To postulate this kind of "cryptocontextuality"<sup>18</sup> seems very unscientific: we would be making a theory which is about precisely what we *can't* measure.

Another way to think about the weirdness of a contextual model is operationally: imagine that you are an experimentalist that has implemented an apparatus that can differentiate between the ground state and the excited states of a many-level atom. You try it hard, repeat your experiment a lot of times, with different input states, gather the statistics, and is confident that your apparatus is quite trustworthy; you now want to teach a friend experimentalist how to build a similar apparatus. Quite simple, isn't it? You just tell him how you did, ask him to gather statistics, and compare with yours: if the statistics match, you've implemented the same experiment. Except it isn't so if your physical theory is contextual: the statistics of the projector  $\Pi_0$  (the projector onto the ground state) are not enough to determine the results of the experiment, since according to definition 10 the real results  $\xi_{0|\Pi}(\lambda)$  depend on the rest of the (unmeasured) projectors; and these are not only the higher energy levels of the atom, but can in principle include any environmental data, such as the apparatus' mass, the local weather, whether Virgo is ascendant...

In this way, we are rendered incapable of comparing experiments and establishing patterns, the very foundation of our scientific method. Notice the strong parallel between this discussion and the definitions of state and observable in the *C*\*-algebraic axiomatization done by Franco Strocchi [9]. This motivates a new definition of contextuality, due to Spekkens [11], that takes into account these arguments:

A noncontextual ontological model of an operational theory is one wherein if two experimental procedures are operationally equivalent, then they have equivalent representations in the ontological model.

Within this reasoning, it becomes sufficient to have equivalent statistics to be able to identify different experiments, and we are able again to do science. But a definition that uses only words is quite imprecise, and we should codify it in order to avoid misinterpretations:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>With apologies to Asher Peres.

**Definition 11** (Spekkens' contextuality). Let p(k|P, M) be the probability of obtaining the outcome k when doing the measurement M on a state prepared via procedure P. Then we say that an ontological model of an operational theory is measurement noncontextual if

$$p(k|P,M) = p(k|P,M') \quad \forall P \quad \Rightarrow \quad M = M'. \tag{1.3}$$

Analogously, we say that an ontological model of an operational theory is preparation noncontextual if

$$p(k|P,M) = p(k|P',M) \quad \forall M \quad \Rightarrow \quad P = P'. \tag{1.4}$$

The central idea is simple: if measurements M and M' give the same statistics for every preparation procedure P, then we must say that they are in fact the same measurement, with equivalent mathematical representation, and if preparation procedures P and P' give the same statistics for every measurement M, then we must say that they are in fact the same preparation procedure, with equivalent mathematical representation.

Note that this definition improves on Bell's definition by removing any explicit reference to quantum theory, talking about only an "operational theory", *i.e.*, a theory in which we can talk about preparation procedures, measurements, and probabilities. However, this is still not the definition we're looking for. We want to be able to say whether a given probability distribution is contextual or not, as we do with the definition of nonlocality. This we shall do in the next chapter; for this one, this definition is good enough.

We want to specialize this definition to ontological models of quantum theory, as a matter of convenience, since that's all we'll be talking about. Note that in quantum theory  $p(k|P, M) = \text{tr} \rho M_k$  is completely defined by the measurement operator  $M_k$  and the quantum state  $\rho$ , so that's all our ontological model can take into account. More precisely

**Definition 12.** We say that an ontological model of quantum theory is measurement noncontextual if

$$\xi_{k|M}(\lambda) = \xi_{M_k}(\lambda),$$

that is, if the response function associated to the outcome k of a measurement M depends only on the measurement operator  $M_k$ . Analogously, we say that an ontological model of quantum theory is preparation noncontextual if

$$\mu_P(\lambda) = \mu_\rho(\lambda),$$

that is, if the ontic state associated to the preparation procedure P depends only on the quantum state  $\rho$  that is prepared.

What else could the ontic state  $\mu_P(\lambda)$  possibly depend on? Well, in the ontological models we discussed in sections 1.2.1 and 1.2.2 it depended on the "true" basis of  $\rho$ , making these states preparation contextual. It could also depend on the "true" purification of  $\rho$ , or really anything that one might deem plausible or implausible. What about measurements? Well, the most famous sort of context is that of Bell's definition of contextuality: the whole PVM *M*,

as do the ontological models discussed on section 1.9.2, but it could also be anything, such as the colour of the measurement apparatus, the latitude and longitude of the laboratory where the experiment is performed, etc.

One final remark: if quantum theory were an ontological model of itself then definition 11 (and 12) would imply that it is *not* contextual, since it is trivial to prove that

$$\operatorname{tr} \rho M_k = \operatorname{tr} \rho M'_k \quad \forall \rho \quad \Rightarrow M_k = M'_k$$

and

$$\operatorname{tr} \rho M_k = \operatorname{tr} \sigma M_k \quad \forall M_k \quad \Rightarrow \rho = \sigma.$$

Since it is not, the oft-heard claim that "quantum mechanics is contextual" is just meaningless. What one probably means with it is that any ontological model of quantum theory must be contextual, repeating a situation that happen in the area of nonlocality: quantum mechanics is obviously a local theory, in the relativistic sense, but any ontological model of quantum theory must be nonlocal, leading to the meaningless sentence "quantum mechanics is nonlocal".

#### 1.5 Contextuality for preparation procedures

In this section we shall show that it is not possible to construct a preparation noncontextual ontological model of quantum theory [11]. This is not the conflict with quantum theory usually discussed, but we feel that it is appropriate to begin with it for three reasons:

- 1. It is independent of assumptions on determinism
- 2. It is simple
- 3. It is novel

To begin, we'll need to prove a simple lemma about how orthogonal states are represented in the ontic space  $\Lambda$ . We'll see that the possibility of distinguishing orthogonal states with certainty by a single-shot measurement implies that their representations in the ontic space must have disjoint support.

**Lemma 13.** If two quantum states  $\rho$  and  $\sigma$  are orthogonal then the corresponding ontic states  $\mu_{\rho}$  and  $\mu_{\sigma}$  have disjoint support:

$$ho\sigma = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \mu_{
ho}(\lambda)\mu_{\sigma}(\lambda) = 0 \quad \forall \lambda$$

*Proof.* If  $\rho$  and  $\sigma$  are orthogonal, then they can be distinguished with certainty in a single-shot measurement. To construct one such measurement, note that the supports of  $\rho$  and  $\sigma$  must be orthogonal, and let  $\Pi_{\rho}$  be the projector onto the support of  $\rho$ . Then

$$\operatorname{tr} \rho \Pi_{\rho} = 1$$
 and  $\operatorname{tr} \sigma \Pi_{\rho} = 0$ .

Writing these measurements ontologically, we have

$$\int_{\Lambda} \mu_{
ho} \xi_{\Pi_{
ho}} = 1 \quad ext{and} \quad \int_{\Lambda} \mu_{\sigma} \xi_{\Pi_{
ho}} = 0,$$

so  $\xi_{\Pi_{\rho}}(\lambda) = 1$  for all  $\lambda$  in the support of  $\mu_{\rho}$ , and  $\xi_{\Pi_{\rho}}(\lambda) = 0$  for all  $\lambda$  in the support of  $\mu_{\sigma}$ , so the supports of  $\mu_{\rho}$  and  $\mu_{\sigma}$  are disjoint, and  $\mu_{\rho}(\lambda)\mu_{\sigma}(\lambda) = 0$  for all  $\lambda$ .

We will also need the assumption that is violated by all the ontological models discussed so far:

Assumption 2 (Preparation noncontextuality).

$$\sum_{i} p_{i}\psi_{i} = \sum_{i} q_{i}\phi_{i} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \mu_{(p_{i},\psi_{i})}(\lambda) = \mu_{(q_{i},\phi_{i})}(\lambda)$$

With the groundwork laid, we can now state the theorem and prove it.

**Theorem 14** (Spekkens [11]). *It is not possible to embed quantum theory into a preparation noncontextual ontological theory.* 

*Proof.* Let  $\phi$ ,  $\Phi$ ,  $\chi$ , X,  $\psi$ , and  $\Psi$  be quantum states such that

$$0 = \phi \Phi = \chi X = \psi \Psi \tag{1.5a}$$

$$\mathbb{1} = \phi + \Phi = \chi + X = \psi + \Psi \tag{1.5b}$$

$$\frac{3}{2}\mathbb{1} = \phi + \chi + \psi = \Phi + X + \Psi.$$
 (1.5c)

That such a family of states exists can be proven by exhibiting an example in dimension 2, that can be easily embedded in higher dimensions:

$$|\phi
angle = |0
angle$$
  $|\Phi
angle = |1
angle$  (1.6a)

$$|\chi\rangle = \frac{1}{2}|0\rangle + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}|1\rangle \qquad \qquad |X\rangle = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}|0\rangle - \frac{1}{2}|1\rangle \qquad (1.6b)$$

$$|\psi\rangle = \frac{1}{2}|0\rangle - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}|1\rangle \qquad |\Psi\rangle = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}|0\rangle + \frac{1}{2}|1\rangle \qquad (1.6c)$$

A nice way to visualize the orthogonality and completeness relations (1.5) is to represent states (1.6) in the  $\sigma_x$ ,  $\sigma_z$  plane of the Bloch sphere, as done in figure 1.1.

Now we shall use lemmas 1 and 13 together with assumption 2 and relations (1.5) to derive a contradiction. Lemma 13 together with (1.5a) implies that

$$\mu_{\phi}(\lambda)\mu_{\Phi}(\lambda) = \mu_{\chi}(\lambda)\mu_{X}(\lambda) = \mu_{\psi}(\lambda)\mu_{\Psi}(\lambda) = 0 \quad \forall \lambda$$
(1.7)

Lemma 1, together with assumption 2 and relations (1.5b), implies that

$$\mu_{\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{1}} = \frac{1}{2} (\mu_{\phi} + \mu_{\Phi})$$
(1.8a)

$$=\frac{1}{2}(\mu_{\chi}+\mu_{\chi})$$
 (1.8b)

$$=\frac{1}{2}(\mu_{\psi}+\mu_{\Psi}), \qquad (1.8c)$$



Figure 1.1: Representation of states (1.6) in the  $\sigma_x$ ,  $\sigma_z$  plane of the Bloch sphere. The barycenter of antipodal states or states which are connected by a triangle is 1/2.

and together with relations (1.5c)

$$\mu_{\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{I}} = \frac{1}{3} (\mu_{\phi} + \mu_{\chi} + \mu_{\psi})$$
(1.9a)

$$=\frac{1}{3}(\mu_{\Phi}+\mu_{\chi}+\mu_{\Psi}).$$
 (1.9b)

We shall conclude the proof by showing that the only simultaneous solution to (1.8), (1.9), and (1.7) is the all-zero solution

$$\mu_{\phi}(\lambda) = \mu_{\Phi}(\lambda) = \mu_{\chi}(\lambda) = \mu_{\chi}(\lambda) = \mu_{\psi}(\lambda) = \mu_{\Psi}(\lambda) = 0 \quad \forall \lambda,$$

which is absurd, since probability distributions can't be zero everywhere.

The disjointness relations (1.7) imply that for each  $\lambda$  at least one of  $\mu_{\phi}$  and  $\mu_{\Phi}$  must be zero, and the same for the other letters. Therefore there are 8 different cases to examine, although only two are essentially different. The first one is when  $\mu_{\phi}$ ,  $\mu_{\chi}$ , and  $\mu_{\psi}$  are zero. Then (1.9) implies that  $\mu_{\Phi}$ ,  $\mu_{\chi}$ , and  $\mu_{\Psi}$  must also be zero. The second case is when  $\mu_{\Phi}$ ,  $\mu_{\chi}$ , and  $\mu_{\psi}$  are zero. Then (1.8a) implies that  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{I}} = \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\phi}$ , and (1.9a) implies that  $\mu_{\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{I}} = \frac{1}{3}\mu_{\phi}$ . But the only solution to  $\frac{1}{2}\mu_{\phi} = \frac{1}{3}\mu_{\phi}$  is  $\mu_{\phi} = 0$ , and we can apply the previous argument to show that all probability distributions must be zero. The six remaining cases are simply relabellings of these two.

As the above argument applies to every  $\lambda$ , we have that all probability distributions are zero for every  $\lambda$ , and thus are not probability distributions.

#### **1.6** Gleason theorems

There are three theorems that I call "Gleason theorems": von Neumann's theorem [15], Gleason's theorem [27] and Busch's theorem [28]. Of these three, the most famous is certainly Gleason's<sup>19</sup>, and that is why I chose to name this section after it. All three theorems share a similar structure: they postulate some properties that a measurement  $\mu$  should have, and then prove that the only measurement that satisfies those properties is the quantum mechanical one  $\mu(A) = \text{tr } \rho A$ . They can be interpreted in two ways:

- 1. As an axiomatic improvement, by showing that the notion of quantum state and Born's rule follow from weaker axioms.
- 2. As excluding deterministic ontological theories, by saying that properties of *μ* should be true in *any* theory, not only in quantum mechanics. Then one only has to notice that Born's rule is not deterministic.

If one chooses the first interpretation, all three theorems are perfectly fine, and in fact quite similar. Problems arise, however, if one insists on interpreting them as excluding deterministic ontological theories. Then von Neumann's theorem becomes *foolish*<sup>20</sup> [5], as its assumptions already excludes a large class of ontological theories, without good reason.

#### 1.6.1 von Neumann's theorem

**Theorem 15** (von Neumann [15]). Let A, B be self-adjoint operators, and  $\mu$  :  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathbb{R}$  a function such that

- 1.  $\mu(\alpha A) = \alpha \mu(A)$  for real  $\alpha$ .
- 2.  $\mu(A + B) = \mu(A) + \mu(B)$  for commuting A, B.
- 3.  $\mu(A + B) = \mu(A) + \mu(B)$  for non-commuting A, B.
- 4.  $\mu(1) = 1$
- 5.  $\mu(A) \ge 0$  for positive A.

Then any such function can be written as

$$\mu(\Pi) = \operatorname{tr} \rho \Pi,$$

where  $\rho$  is a positive operator of unit trace.

*Proof.* Properties 1, 2, and 3 establish that  $\mu$  is a linear functional on  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H})$ , and by the Riesz lemma can be represented as an inner product  $\mu(A) = \operatorname{tr} \rho A$ . Property 4 then implies that  $\rho$  has unity trace, as  $\mu(\mathbb{1}) = \operatorname{tr} \rho \mathbb{1} = \operatorname{tr} \rho = 1$ , and property 5 implies its positivity, since in particular projectors are positive operators, and  $\mu(|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|) = \operatorname{tr} \rho|\psi\rangle\langle\psi| = \langle\psi|\rho|\psi\rangle \ge 0$  for all  $\psi$  is the definition of positivity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>The most infamous being von Neumann's. Busch's theorem is still new.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>The hasty reader might wonder why learn a foolish theorem. A quick answer would be to avoid repeating mistakes of the past [29, 30]. For a longer answer, read the section.

We can see, then, that the theorem itself is quite simple, and its value resides in the strength of its assumptions, which we shall examine now. The first thing one may notice is that the theorem already makes use of the Hilbert space formalism for the observables, and the fact that the states also follow the same formalism seems almost like a tautology. But this is not the case. Quantum mechanics can already implement this formalism in experiments in a quite successful manner, and one may regard observable *A* as just a proxy for the experiment that implements it; as  $\mu$  can be any function *a priori* (we don't even assume it is continuous), there is not limitation in using O(H) as its domain. We shall now proceed to examine the physical content of the assumptions.

Assumption 1 and 2 can be interpreted as doing classical post-processing to the data of a single experiment, the measurement of a PVM { $\Pi_i$ }, that we define from the eigendecomposition of A. The multiplication of A by a constant is implemented just by multiplying its eigenvalues by the same constant. To implement the observable A + B corresponding to the sum of commuting operators A and B one notices that they can be diagonalized simultaneously as  $A = \sum_i a_i \Pi_i$  and  $B = \sum_i b_i \Pi_i$ , and so their sum  $A + B = \sum_i (a_i + b_i) \Pi_i$ is just a combination and rescaling of the data coming from the  $\Pi_i$  outputs. Assumptions 4 and 5 can be justified by the possibility of interpreting  $\mu(\Pi_i)$ as a probabilities are positive, and some outcome must happen.

The one which is harder to justify is assumption 3, since *A*, *B*, and *A* + *B* correspond to different experimental configurations: so the possibility of measuring *A* + *B* just by processing the data coming from the PVMs that measure *A* or *B* is excluded. Its justification comes from the fact that in quantum mechanics tr  $\rho(A + B) = \text{tr }\rho A + \text{tr }\rho B$ , and our ontological theory must reproduce its results. But this is where von Neumann slips, and to make the slip more clear, it's best to use the ontological notation, the correspondence being  $\mu(A) = \xi_A(\lambda)$ . So assumption 3 translates to

$$\xi_{A+B}(\lambda) = \xi_A(\lambda) + \xi_B(\lambda),$$

which is clearly overkill, since correspondence with quantum mechanics only requires that

$$\int_{\Lambda} \mu_{\rho} \xi_{A+B} = \int_{\Lambda} \mu_{\rho} \xi_{A} + \int_{\Lambda} \mu_{\rho} \xi_{B}$$

that is, that the expected values correspond, not the values of the response functions themselves. For instance, in the Bell-Mermin model, discussed in appendix A, we can see that the response function (A.1) is clearly linear with respect to the sum of commuting observables<sup>21</sup>

 $A = a_0 \mathbb{1} + a \cdot \sigma$  and  $B = b_0 \mathbb{1} + b \cdot \sigma = b_0 \mathbb{1} + \alpha a \cdot \sigma$ ,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>Note that *A* and *B* commute iff  $b = \alpha a$  for some real  $\alpha$ .

$$\begin{split} \xi_{A+B}(\psi,\lambda) &= a_0 + b_0 + \|a + \alpha a\|\operatorname{sign}((a + \alpha a) \cdot (\lambda + \hat{\psi})) \\ &= a_0 + b_0 + |1 + \alpha| \|a\|\operatorname{sign}(1 + \alpha)\operatorname{sign}(a \cdot (\lambda + \hat{\psi})) \\ &= a_0 + \|a\|\operatorname{sign}(a \cdot (\lambda + \hat{\psi})) + b_0 + \alpha\|a\|\operatorname{sign}(a \cdot (\lambda + \hat{\psi})) \\ &= \xi_A(\psi,\lambda) + \xi_B(\psi,\lambda), \end{split}$$

since the values that  $\xi_A$  assumes are the eigenvalues of A, and eigenvalues *are* linear with respect to the sum of commuting observables. Of course, this is not true when the observables do not commute, as we can see in the following example:

$$\begin{split} \xi_{\sigma_x + \sigma_z}(\psi, \lambda) &= \sqrt{2} \operatorname{sign}(\lambda_x + \psi_x + \lambda_z + \psi_z) \\ &\neq \operatorname{sign}(\lambda_x + \psi_x) + \operatorname{sign}(\lambda_z + \psi_z) \\ &= \xi_{\sigma_x}(\psi, \lambda) + \xi_{\sigma_z}(\psi, \lambda). \end{split}$$

Therefore, we must conclude that this assumption is unfounded, and if no justification can be found to it, we must abandon von Neumann's prohibition of ontological models. We shall see, however, that even if we abandon this assumption, we can still prove a von Neumann-like theorem, valid in a more restricted context: that is Gleason's theorem. More surprisingly, however, is the fact that this assumption *can* be justified, by the consideration of POVMs. This realisation is what motivated the proof of Busch's theorem.

#### 1.6.2 Gleason's theorem

as

Andrew Gleason was not concerned with von Neumann's theorem, not even with the problem of ontological models for quantum mechanics. His goal was to study the mathematical foundations of quantum mechanics, and to strengthen its axiomatic basis by showing that essentially every measure on a Hilbert space is given by Born's rule [27]. Its significance to the exclusion of ontological models of quantum mechanics was first noticed by Bell [4], who also remarked that contextual ontological models were not bound by Gleason's theorem.

**Theorem 16** (Gleason [27]). Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a separable Hilbert space over  $\mathbb{C}$  with dim  $\mathcal{H} \geq 3$ , and  $\mu : \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}) \rightarrow [0,1]$  a function such that  $\sum_i \mu(\Pi_i) = 1$  for any *PVM* { $\Pi_i$ }. Then any such function can be written as

$$\mu(\Pi_i) = \operatorname{tr} \rho \Pi_i,$$

where  $\rho$  is a positive operator of unity trace.

The proof of this theorem is already well-known, and a bit boring, so we shall omit it. The interested reader may find it in the original work [27], or in the clearer version by Bell [4].

It is easy to see that von Neumann's  $\mu$  functions satisfy all the properties of Gleason's  $\mu$  functions, and continue to do so even if we drop his questionable assumption 3, so it is certainly possible to interpret Gleason's theorem as a

"reasonable" von Neumann theorem, with weaker assumptions. Also notice that Gleason's assumptions are explicitly non-contextual, by assuming that  $\mu(\Pi_i)$  is only a function of the projector  $\Pi_i$ , and not of the whole PVM.

#### 1.6.3 Busch's theorem

Paul Busch was concerned with the justification of von Neumann's assumption 3. He noticed that if one measures a POVM  $\{E_i\}$  instead of a PVM, then it is possible to have in a single experiment two outcomes  $E_0$  and  $E_1$  that do not commute<sup>22</sup>, so it is perfectly natural to demand that  $\mu(E_0 + E_1) =$  $\mu(E_0) + \mu(E_1)$ , since one can measure  $E_0 + E_1$  just by combining the outcomes corresponding to  $E_0$  and  $E_1$ . He then restricted assumption 3 to sums of effects belonging to a single POVM, and was able to derive Born's rule from it, thus resurrecting von Neumann's theorem [31]. Later he realized that the form of his theorem was actually closer to Gleason's than von Neumann's; to obtain it from Gleason's one only has to demand  $\sum_i \mu(\Pi_i) = 1$  to be true for POVMs, instead of just form PVMs. Interpreted in this way, his theorem is a much stronger version of Gleason's with a much simpler proof [28].

The proof presented here mostly follows the one presented in [1], with the difference that it does not require the domain of  $\mu$  to be extended.

**Theorem 17** (Busch [28]). Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a separable Hilbert space over<sup>23</sup>  $\mathbb{Q}[i]$  or  $\mathbb{C}$ , and  $\mu : \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{H}) \to [0,1]$  a function such that  $\sum_i \mu(E_i) = 1$  for any POVM  $\{E_i\}$ . Then any such function can be written as

$$\mu(E_i) = \operatorname{tr} \rho E_i,$$

where  $\rho$  is a positive operator of unity trace.

*Proof.* The proof begins by noticing that  $\mu$  is in fact a linear functional on  $\mathcal{E}(\mathcal{H})$ . From that, the Riesz lemma establishes that it can represented as an inner product. Positivity and normalization of  $\rho$  then comes from the positivity and normalization of  $\mu$ . We shall first prove the case where  $\mathcal{H}$  is over the complex rationals, and later extend the proof to the continuum.

First note that if *E* is an effect, 1 - E is also an effect. Then considering the POVMs  $\{E, 1 - E\}$  and  $\{E_1, E_2, ..., E_n, 1 - E\}$ , where  $\sum_i E_i = E$ , we see that  $\mu(E) = \sum_i \mu(E_i)$ . Considering the particular case  $E_i = E/n$ , we get that  $\mu(E) = n\mu(E/n)$ . On the other hand, if we consider E = mF and  $E_i = F$ , we get  $\mu(mF) = m\mu(F)$ . Combining these two cases, we see that  $\mu(\frac{m}{n}E) = m\mu(\frac{1}{n}E) = \frac{m}{n}\mu(E)$ , that is,  $\mu(qE) = q\mu(E)$  for  $q \in \mathbb{Q}^+$  whenever both qE and *E* are effects. Wrapping up, we have that

$$\mu(E) = \sum_{i} q_i \mu(E_i)$$

for rational  $q_i$  whenever  $q_iE_i$  are effects, so  $\mu$  already has some restricted linearity. If we can remove the restriction that  $q_iE_i$  are effects, we get full linearity on  $\mathcal{E}(\mathcal{H})$ , and that's what we'll do now.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>In fact, this happens in all non-trivial POVMs..

 $<sup>{}^{23}\</sup>mathbb{Q}[i]$  is the field extension of the rationals Q with the imaginary number *i*,  $\mathbb{Q}[i] = \{a + ib : a, b \in \mathbb{Q}\}.$ 

Consider the effects *E* and  $F \leq E$ . Then E = E - F + F, and  $\mu(E) = \mu(E - F) + \mu(F)$ , so  $\mu(E - F) = \mu(E) - \mu(F)$ . Consider now *E*, *F*, *G*  $\in \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{H})$  and  $p, q \in \mathbb{Q}^+$  such that E = pF - qG, but at least one of *p* and *q* is larger than unity, so *pF* and *qG* are not necessarily effects. Without loss of generality, let  $p \geq q$ . Then  $\frac{1}{p}E$ , *F*, and  $\frac{q}{p}G$  are all effects, and by the property we just proved,  $\mu(\frac{1}{q}E) = \mu(F) - \mu(\frac{q}{p}G)$ , so  $\mu(E) = p\mu(F) - q\mu(G)$  and

$$\mu(E) = \sum_{i} q_i \mu(E_i)$$

for *any* rational  $q_i$ , so we have full linearity on  $\mathcal{E}(\mathcal{H})$ . Let then  $\{E_i\}_{i=1}^{d^2}$  be a MIC-POVM and, as such, a basis for  $\mathcal{H}$ . Then any effect E can be written as  $E = \sum_{i=1}^{d^2} q_i E_i$  for  $q_i \in \mathbb{Q}$  (a moment's thought will convince you that complex numbers aren't allowed). We can now define  $\rho$  by solving the  $d^2$  equations tr  $\rho E_i = \mu(E_i)$ , and see that

$$\mu(E) = \sum_{i=1}^{d^2} q_i \mu(E_i) = \sum_{i=1}^{d^2} q_i \operatorname{tr} \rho E_i = \operatorname{tr} \left( \rho \sum_{i=1}^{d^2} q_i E_i \right) = \operatorname{tr} \rho E.$$

Positivity of  $\rho$  comes from considering the case where *E* is a one-dimensional projector:

$$0 \leq \operatorname{tr} \rho E = \operatorname{tr} \rho |\psi\rangle \langle \psi| = \langle \psi |\rho|\psi\rangle.$$

The unity of the trace comes from

$$1 = \sum_{i} \mu(E_i) = \sum_{i} \operatorname{tr} \rho E_i = \operatorname{tr} \left( \rho \sum_{i} E_i \right) = \operatorname{tr} \rho.$$

This completes the proof for  $\mathbb{Q}[i]$ . To extend it to the continuum, note again that if  $E \ge F$ , then  $\mu(E) = \mu(E - F) + \mu(F)$ , and so  $\mu(E) \ge \mu(F)$ . Let then  $p_i$  and  $q_i$  be sequences of rational numbers tending to the real number  $\alpha$  such that  $p_i \le \alpha \le q_i$ . We have  $p_i E \le \alpha E \le q_i E$ , and as such  $p_i \mu(E) \le \mu(\alpha E) \le q_i \mu(E)$ , so  $\mu(\alpha E) = \alpha \mu(E)$ . From this fact, one can now retrace the proof and see that it also holds for  $\mathbb{C}$ .

The reason that we decided to highlight the fact that Busch's theorem holds for  $\mathbb{Q}[i]$  is that the original Gleason theorem fails for it, hinting that traditional contextuality might have problems dealing with subsets of  $\mathbb{C}$  [32, 33]. This feature of Busch's theorem was first noticed in [34].

#### 1.6.4 Wrapping up

Busch's theorem is clearly superior to von Neumann's in every way, but this is not true for Gleason's: they can be interpreted in different ways. Busch's shows that there can't be a non-contextual model capable of reproducing quantum mechanics in any dimension, while Gleason's opens up the possibility of such a model existing in dimension two, if we only care about projective measurements. That such a model exists can be seen by looking at the Bell-Mermin model in appendix A; but if, like Gleason, the reader is not interested in the question of ontological theories, but in which measures are allowed given the Hilbert space structure of observables, the following counterexample<sup>24</sup> should suffice:

$$\mu_{\psi}(\phi) = \frac{1}{2} (1 + \cos(n \cos^{-1}(\hat{\phi} \cdot \hat{\psi}))), \text{ odd } n$$

Note that for n = 1 this formula is simply Born's rule.

It is easy to check that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i} \mu(\Pi_{i}) &= \mu_{\psi}(\phi) + \mu_{\psi}(\mathbb{1} - \phi) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (1 + \cos(n\cos^{-1}(\hat{\phi} \cdot \hat{\psi}))) + \frac{1}{2} (1 + \cos(n\cos^{-1}(\hat{\phi} \cdot \hat{\psi}) + \pi)) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (1 + \cos(n\cos^{-1}(\hat{\phi} \cdot \hat{\psi}))) + \frac{1}{2} (1 - \cos(n\cos^{-1}(\hat{\phi} \cdot \hat{\psi}))) \\ &= 1, \end{split}$$

as required in Gleason's assumptions.

To see that for  $n \ge 3$  this formula can't equal Born's rule, notice that

$$\operatorname{tr}\psi\phi=\frac{1}{2}(1+\hat{\phi}\cdot\hat{\psi})$$

only has one root, if considered as a function of the angle  $\cos^{-1}(\hat{\phi} \cdot \hat{\psi})$ , whereas our  $\mu_{\psi}(\phi)$  has *n* roots.

#### 1.7 The Kochen-Specker theorem

A corollary of the Gleason theorem is that one can't embed quantum theory in a noncontextual ontological model if dim  $\mathcal{H} \geq 3$ , since the Born rule is explicitly noncontextual and non-deterministic; a direct proof of this fact might seem superfluous. But one might not like its assumptions: after all, it already assumes a fair bit of structure that is not quite needed and, more importantly, it needs to assume that the quantum valuation  $\mu(\Pi_i)$  is defined for a continuous amount of projectors, which of course can never have experimental justification. This was the motivation<sup>25</sup> for Simon Kochen and Ernst Specker to develop a *finite* proof of noncontextuality, finding an inconsistency in any deterministic assignment of values to a set of experiments realizable in quantum mechanics [14]. Another motivation to present it here is that it proves the claim in section 1.2.2 that noncontextual deterministic ontological models can not describe two-outcome PVMs.

In modern parlance, the Kochen-Specker theorem is referred to as a proof of state-independent contextuality, as the logical contradiction found depends only on the structure of quantum observables, and not on the statistics from the measurement of specific states. This situation contrasts, of course, with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>Due to Marcelo Terra Cunha and Rafael Rabelo.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>The motivation can come from Gleason's theorem, or from a 1960 work of Specker [35, 36], that was independent of Gleason and also contained a "continuous" proof of contextuality.

proofs of state-dependent contextuality, which we shall explore mainly on the next chapter.

More specifically, their proof says that we can't attribute deterministic values  $\xi_{\Pi_i}(\lambda)$  to a set of projectors  $\{\Pi_i\}_{i=1}^{117}$  in dimension three respecting the quantum mechanical observation that in the measurement of a PVM one answer (and only one answer) always occurs. An elegant way to proceed with the proof is to represent this set of projectors in an orthogonality graph (where each vertex corresponds to a projector, and two vertices are connected iff the corresponding projectors are orthogonal), and map the quantum mechanical observation into two rules for colouring the graph:

- 1. Two connected vertices can't both have the value 1 If two projectors  $\Pi_i$  and  $\Pi_j$  are orthogonal, they can be measured simultaneously, and therefore  $\xi_{\Pi_i}(\lambda)$  and  $\xi_{\Pi_i}(\lambda)$  can't both equal 1.
- In a loop of three connected vertices, one of them must have the value 1
   If three projectors are mutually orthogonal, they form a PVM, and in a
  PVM one answer (and only one answer) always occurs.

The proof concludes by showing that no such colouring of the graph can exist, and therefore one can't attribute deterministic values to this set of projectors. We shall, however, omit it. Even though it is quite beautiful, the proof is mainly of historical interest, as simpler proofs have hitherto been found. We refer the interested reader to the original paper, or the excellent exposition of it by Cabello [37].

# 1.7.1 An 18-projector proof by Cabello, Estebaranz, and García-Alcaine

The simplest (with fewest projectors) such no-colouring proof that we currently know<sup>26</sup> was found in 1996 by Cabello, Estebaranz, and García-Alcaine [40]. In contrast with Kochen-Specker's 117 projectors, it needs only 18 to generate a contradiction. These projectors are represented in figure 1.2, where v = (a, b, c, d) is just a shorthand notation for the projector onto  $|v\rangle = a|0\rangle + b|1\rangle + c|2\rangle + d|3\rangle$ . This figure does not represent an orthogonality graph, which would be quite cumbersome, but an orthogonality hypergraph, where sets of four commuting projectors are connected by edges of the same colour.

One could in fact proceed to prove directly that it is non-colourable (there are few non-equivalent potential colourings), but it is more elegant to use a parity argument: we know that in each context we must have one answer 1, so the sum over all answers in all contexts must be 9. But if we do this sum projector by projector, we see that each projector appears in exactly two contexts, and likewise each answer appears twice, so the sum over them must be an even number, a contradiction.

 $<sup>^{26}</sup>$  We do know that in dimensions 3 and 4 there are no no-colouring proofs with 17 projectors or less [38, 39].



Figure 1.2: Vectors for the 18-projector proof of the Kochen-Specker theorem. Reproduced from [41] with permission from the author.

#### 1.7.2 A 13-projector proof by Yu and Oh

Shockingly, more recently it has been found that a non-colourable graph is *not* necessary to prove state-independent contextuality. Yu and Oh [42] have found such a proof in dimension 3 based on a set of 13 projectors that *does* have a colouring that obeys rules 1 and 2. They argue that every possible colouring of their graph contradicts another prediction of quantum theory. The orthogonality graph is represented in figure 1.3, and its quantum realization is given by the vectors

$$\begin{aligned} z_1 &= (1,0,0) & h_0 &= (1,1,1) & y_1^+ &= (0,1,1) \\ z_2 &= (0,1,0) & h_1 &= (-1,1,1) & y_1^- &= (0,1,-1) \\ z_3 &= (0,0,1) & h_2 &= (1,-1,1) & y_2^+ &= (1,0,1) \\ h_3 &= (1,1,-1) & y_2^- &= (-1,0,1) \\ y_3^+ &= (1,1,0) \\ y_3^- &= (1,-1,0) \end{aligned}$$

where r = (a, b, c) is just a shorthand notation for the projector onto  $|r\rangle = a|0\rangle + b|1\rangle + c|2\rangle$ . It is important for the proof that this is actually the unique quantum realization of the orthogonality graph up to a global unitary transformation, which is trivial to prove.

To obtain the contradiction with quantum mechanics, first note that no two  $h_i$  can be assigned 1 simultaneously. We shall prove this by contradiction. By the symmetry of the graph, there are only two cases:



Figure 1.3: Orthogonality graph for the proof of Yu and Oh. Reproduced from [43] with permission from the authors.

- 1. Assume that  $\xi_{h_0}(\lambda) = \xi_{h_1}(\lambda) = 1$ . Then by the KS rules we must assign 0 to  $y_2^{\pm}$  and  $y_3^{\pm}$ , which oblige us to assign 1 to  $z_2$  and  $z_3$ , a contradiction.
- 2. Assume that  $\xi_{h_1}(\lambda) = \xi_{h_2}(\lambda) = 1$ . Then by the KS rules we must assign 0 to  $y_1^{\pm}$  and  $y_2^{\pm}$ , which oblige us to assign 1 to  $z_1$  and  $z_2$ , a contradiction.

This implies that  $\sum_{i} \xi_{h_i}(\lambda) \leq 1$ , and furthermore that

$$\sum_{i} \int_{\Lambda} \mu_{\psi} \xi_{h_{i}} \leq 1.$$

But the *lhs* must be equal to the quantum expectation value  $\sum_i \operatorname{tr} \psi h_i$ ; since

$$\sum_{i} h_i = \frac{4}{3}\mathbb{1},$$

we get that  $\sum_i \operatorname{tr} \psi h_i = 4/3$  for any state, a contradiction.

#### 1.7.3 A 9-observable proof by Peres and Mermin

Last but not least, we'd like to present the beautiful proof of the Kochen-Specker theorem done in 1990 by Asher Peres and David Mermin [44, 45], the Peres-Mermin square. It uses 9 four-dimensional observables, so in some

sense it is larger than the previous two proofs, and also older; but it is also quite elegant, and so it might seem smaller to the human mind.

Let

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_z \otimes \mathbb{1} & \mathbb{1} \otimes \sigma_z & \sigma_z \otimes \sigma_z \\ \mathbb{1} \otimes \sigma_x & \sigma_x \otimes \mathbb{1} & \sigma_x \otimes \sigma_x \\ \sigma_z \otimes \sigma_x & \sigma_x \otimes \sigma_z & \sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.10)

be the Peres-Mermin square, where  $\sigma_x$ ,  $\sigma_y$ , and  $\sigma_z$  are Pauli matrices. Note that observables  $A_{ij}$  that lie in the same line or column always commute, so they are simultaneously measurable, and we should be justified in assigning them a predefined value  $\mu(A_{ij}) = \xi_{A_{ij}}(\lambda) \in \{-1, +1\}$ . But also note that the product of the observables in each line or column is always plus or minus identity, relation that our predefined values should also respect. More specifically, this reasoning leads us to the relations

$$\mu(\sigma_{z} \otimes \mathbb{1})\mu(\mathbb{1} \otimes \sigma_{z})\mu(\sigma_{z} \otimes \sigma_{z}) = +1$$
  

$$\mu(\mathbb{1} \otimes \sigma_{x})\mu(\sigma_{x} \otimes \mathbb{1})\mu(\sigma_{x} \otimes \sigma_{x}) = +1$$
  

$$\mu(\sigma_{z} \otimes \sigma_{x})\mu(\sigma_{x} \otimes \sigma_{z})\mu(\sigma_{y} \otimes \sigma_{y}) = +1$$
  

$$\mu(\sigma_{z} \otimes \mathbb{1})\mu(\mathbb{1} \otimes \sigma_{x})\mu(\sigma_{z} \otimes \sigma_{x}) = +1$$
  

$$\mu(\mathbb{1} \otimes \sigma_{z})\mu(\sigma_{x} \otimes \mathbb{1})\mu(\sigma_{x} \otimes \sigma_{z}) = +1$$
  

$$\mu(\sigma_{z} \otimes \sigma_{z})\mu(\sigma_{x} \otimes \sigma_{x})\mu(\sigma_{y} \otimes \sigma_{y}) = -1$$

Note now that each predefined value appears twice in the *lhs*, so the product over all of them must be +1. But the product over the *rhs* is -1, a contradiction.

#### 1.8 Ontological excess baggage

What motivated Bell to prove his famous theorem was his observation that the ontological theory of de Broglie-Bohm [46] has a grossly nonlocal character [4]. A natural question for him was, then, whether this nonlocality was particular of Bohm's mechanics or actually a general character of any ontological theory [24].

In that same paper, however, Bell also noticed that to study a spin system within Bohm's theory he had to include the position degree of freedom, and reduce spin measurements to position measurements. But by doing so he enlarged the number of real parameters required to describe a single qubit from two to countable infinity, and worse, the number of ontological states had to be uncountable infinity.

Hardy then asked whether this is a general feature of ontological theories, or just a particularity of Bell's model for a spin in Bohm's theory, and found that the answer is yes [10], naming this feature *ontological excess baggage*. His theorem is the subject of this section.

A perhaps more simple (certainly more direct) illustration of the ontological excess baggage theorem can be found in the naïve ontological theory described in section 1.2.1, where we identify the ontic space  $\Lambda$  with the space of pure states  $\mathcal{PH}$ , thus forcing  $\Lambda$  to have the same cardinality as it, that is, uncountable infinity. **Theorem 18** (Hardy [10]). *In any ontological embedding of quantum theory the ontic space*  $\Lambda$  *is infinite.* 

*Proof.* Let  $\psi$  and  $\phi$  be two pure quantum states,  $\psi \neq \phi$ . Then there is a measurement  $\psi$  for which tr( $\psi\psi$ ) = 1, whereas tr( $\psi\phi$ ) < 1. Writing these measurements ontologically, we have

$$\int_{\Lambda} \mu_{\psi} \xi_{\psi} = 1$$
 and  $\int_{\Lambda} \mu_{\phi} \xi_{\psi} < 1$ ,

that is,  $\xi_{\psi}(\lambda) = 1$  for all  $\lambda$  in the support of  $\mu_{\psi}(\lambda)$ , but there is a  $\lambda_0$  in the support of  $\mu_{\phi}(\lambda)$  for which  $\xi_{\psi}(\lambda_0) < 1$ . Consequently,  $\lambda_0$  is not in the support of  $\mu_{\psi}(\lambda)$ , and we see that different ontic states must have different supports. This constitutes an injection of  $\mathcal{PH}$  into  $\mathcal{P}(\Lambda)$ , *i.e.*, the set of distinct subsets of  $\Lambda$ , thus proving that  $\mathcal{P}(\Lambda)$  is uncountable. This is only possible if  $\Lambda$  itself is infinite (though not necessarily uncountable).

This proof is based on the one presented in<sup>27</sup> [47].

One might wonder whether this argument can be extended to show that  $\Lambda$  must be uncountable; after all, in all our examples it is, and we have not considered all the information we have: notice that it is never true that the support of  $\mu_{\phi}$  contains the support of  $\mu_{\psi}$  – they are pairwise incomparable – so we have an injection into a subset of  $\mathcal{P}(\Lambda)$ , which might have a smaller cardinality than it. But this hope is unfounded: there is a set *Z* of subsets of  $\mathbb{N}$  that has pairwise incomparable members but continuous cardinality. This was proved by Martin Goldstern as an answer to a MathOverflow question by the author [48].

**Theorem 19.** There is a set Z of subsets of  $\mathbb{N}$  that has pairwise incomparable members but continuous cardinality.

*Proof.* For any subset  $A \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ , let  $X_A = \{2n : n \in A\}$ ,  $Y_A = \{2n + 1 : n \notin A\}$ , and  $Z_A = X_A \cup Y_A$ . Then the set of all  $Z_A$  is uncountable, since there is an injection of  $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{N})$  into it. Also note  $X_A \cap Y_A = \emptyset$ , and therefore  $Z_A \subseteq Z_B$  implies that  $X_A \subseteq X_B$  and  $Y_A \subseteq Y_B$ . This in turn implies that  $A \subseteq B$  and  $B \subseteq A$ , hence A = B. So the  $Z_A$  are pairwise incomparable.

But why is Hardy's theorem interesting? After all, if we're not bothered by the fact that the set of quantum states  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H})$  is uncountable, why should we be bothered by the fact that  $\Lambda$  is infinite? It all has to do with the status of the pure states. If they're not ontological, the description of the Bloch ball as a vector space of dimension three is perfectly natural. But if we insist in giving ontological status to  $|0\rangle$  and  $|+\rangle$ , it becomes a mystery the identification of the preparation procedures  $\left\{ \left(\frac{1}{2}, |0\rangle\right), \left(\frac{1}{2}, |1\rangle\right) \right\}$  and  $\left\{ \left(\frac{1}{2}, |+\rangle\right), \left(\frac{1}{2}, |-\rangle\right) \right\}$  or, ontologically speaking, the states  $\frac{1}{2}\mu_{|0\rangle} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{|1\rangle}$  and  $\frac{1}{2}\mu_{|+\rangle} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{|-\rangle}$ . In fact, if we remember theorem 14, we know that we *can't* do this identification, as it is precisely the assumption of preparation noncontextuality, which we showed to be untenable. But if we don't do this identification, the Bloch ball must

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>Note that Spekkens' claim that  $\Lambda$  itself is uncountable is incorrect.

explode: the set of all ontic states must be the infinite-dimensional set of probability distributions over the pure states.

#### **1.9** How to make an ontological theory?

In light of all these no-go theorems (and "please-don't-go" theorems), one is left to wonder how ugly it would look deterministic ontological models that reproduced all of quantum theory (as opposed to the restricted models presented in sections 1.2.2, 1.3.1, and appendix A). In fact, they don't look so bad on the paper, as their necessary ugliness is more philosophical than mathematical. There are, of course, models that are quite intricate, such as de Broglie-Bohm's theory. We shall ignore it, however, as we feel that an appropriate exposition of it would be too much of a digression. What we shall present is the contextual model proposed by Bell in his critique of the Gleason theorem [4], together with a  $\psi$ -epistemic modification of it [49].

#### 1.9.1 The Bell model

This  $\psi$ -ontic model was proposed by Bell in [4]; we present it here as rendered in [49].

The ontic space for this model is  $\Lambda = \mathcal{PH} \times [0, 1]$ , the ontic state is

$$\mu_{\psi}(\lambda_{\psi}) = \delta(\lambda_{\psi} - \psi),$$

and the response functions are given by

$$\xi_{k|\phi}(\lambda_{\psi},\lambda) = \left[\sum_{i=0}^{k-1} \operatorname{tr} \lambda_{\psi}\phi_i < \lambda \le \sum_{i=0}^k \operatorname{tr} \lambda_{\psi}\phi_i\right],$$

where [] are Iverson brackets<sup>28</sup>, the empty sum  $\sum_{i=0}^{-1} \operatorname{tr} \lambda_{\psi} \phi_i$  is 0, and normalization requires us to set  $\xi_{0|\psi}(\lambda_{\psi}, 0) = 1$ . Note that for dim  $\mathcal{PH} = 2$  this model reduces to the one discussed is section 1.2.2.

This model is easily seen to be contextual, since  $\xi_{k|\phi}(\lambda_{\psi}, \lambda)$  depends non-trivially on the whole PVM  $\phi$ .

#### 1.9.2 The Lewis-Jennings-Barrett-Rudolph model

This model [49] was proposed as a complement to the PBR theorem (theorem 7), showing that it is in fact possible to make a contextual  $\psi$ -epistemic model that reproduces quantum mechanics. With it, we complete the discussion of  $\psi$ -ontic and  $\psi$ -epistemic models that began in section 1.3.

As this model is a bit complicated, we shall study first its version for dimension 2, in order to clarify the ideas, and then proceed to the general case. The response functions used are the same ones as the previous model, whereas the ontic states will be modified in order to become  $\psi$ -epistemic.

Let  $\hat{z}$  correspond to the north pole of the Bloch sphere, and  $u \cdot \hat{z} = \cos \theta_u$  define the polar angle  $\theta_u$  of a unit vector u. Then we can define the northern

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>Defined as [P] = 1 if the proposition P is true and [P] = 0 otherwise.

hemisphere N as the set of vectors with  $\theta_u < \pi/2$ , and label the measurement  $\{\phi_0, \phi_1\}$  in such a way that  $\theta_{\phi_0} \leq \theta_{\phi_1}$ .

The model is based on the observation that if  $\hat{\psi} \in \mathcal{N}$ , then the probability tr  $\psi \phi_0$  will be strictly larger than 0 for any measurement  $\phi_0$ . This observation has two consequences. The first is that we can define a lower bound  $f(\psi)$  for tr  $\psi \phi_0$  that does not depend on  $\phi_0$ , as

tr 
$$\psi \phi_0 = \frac{1}{2} (1 + \cos \theta_{\psi \phi_0}) \ge \frac{1}{2} (1 + \cos(\theta_{\psi} + \pi/2)) = f(\psi).$$

The second is that there exists a set of ontic states

$$\Lambda_{\mathcal{N}} = \left\{ (\lambda_{\psi}, \lambda) : \lambda_{\psi} \in \mathcal{N} \quad \text{and} \quad 0 \le \lambda < f(\psi) \right\}$$

such that for any state  $(\lambda_{\psi}, \psi)$  in it we have that  $\xi_{\phi_0}(\lambda_{\psi}, \lambda) = 1$ . Using all this, we can define a ontic state  $\mu_{\psi}$  for  $\hat{\psi} \in \mathcal{N}$ :

$$\mu_{\psi}(\lambda_{\psi},\lambda) = \delta(\lambda_{\psi} - \psi)\Theta(\lambda - f(\psi)) + f(\psi)U_{\Lambda_{\mathcal{N}}}$$

where  $U_{\Lambda_N}$  is the uniform distribution on  $\Lambda_N$ . Notice that all these states overlap in the set  $\Lambda_N$ . The quantum statistics are recovered by

$$\begin{split} p(0|\psi,\phi) &= \int_{\Lambda} \mu_{\psi} \xi_{0|\phi} \\ &= \int_{\Lambda} \Theta(\lambda - f(\psi)) \Theta(\operatorname{tr} \psi \phi_0 - \lambda) + f(\psi) \int_{\Lambda} U_{\Lambda_{\mathcal{N}}} \Theta(\operatorname{tr} \lambda_{\psi} \phi_0 - \lambda) \\ &= \operatorname{tr} \psi \phi_0 - f(\psi) + f(\psi) \int_{\Lambda} U_{\Lambda_{\mathcal{N}}} \\ &= \operatorname{tr} \psi \phi_0. \end{split}$$

For the case  $\hat{\psi} \notin \mathcal{N}$ , we let  $\mu_{\psi}(\lambda_{\psi}, \lambda) = \delta(\lambda_{\psi} - \psi)$ , as usual.

To make the generalization to dimension *d*, label the measurement  $\{\phi_i\}$ in such a way that tr  $\Pi \phi_0 \ge \text{tr } \Pi \phi_1 \ge ... \ge \text{tr } \Pi \phi_{d-1}$ , where  $\Pi$  is an arbitrary state. Now we want to define the analogue of  $\mathcal{N}$ , *i.e.*, a set  $\mathcal{N}'$  such that for any  $\psi$  in it we have tr  $\psi \phi_0 > 0$ . To do that, first note that tr  $\Pi \phi_0 \ge 1/d$ , since tr  $\Pi \phi_i$  are the elements of a probability vector. Now note that tr  $\psi \phi_0 = 0$ implies that  $\psi \le \mathbb{1} - \phi_0$ , so tr  $\Pi \psi \le \text{tr } \Pi(\mathbb{1} - \phi_0) \le 1 - 1/d$ , and therefore tr  $\Pi \psi > (d-1)/d$  implies that tr  $\psi \phi_0 > 0$ . With that in hand, we can now proceed to finding the analogue of  $f(\psi)$ , *i.e.*, a lower bound on tr  $\psi \phi_0$  that does not depend on  $\phi_0$ . Since its existence is clear, we shall not bother looking for an explicit expression and just call it  $f'(\psi)$ . The analogue of  $\Lambda_{\mathcal{N}}$  is then

$$\Lambda'_{\mathcal{N}} = \left\{ (\lambda_{\psi}, \lambda) : \lambda_{\psi} \in \mathcal{N}' \quad \text{and} \quad 0 \leq \lambda < f'(\lambda_{\psi}) \right\},$$

and the ontic state, for  $\psi \in \mathcal{N}'$ , is

$$\mu_{\psi} = \delta(\lambda_{\psi} - \psi)\Theta(\lambda - f'(\psi)) + f'(\psi)U_{\Lambda'_{\mathcal{N}}}.$$

For  $\psi \notin \mathcal{N}'$ , we let  $\mu_{\psi}(\lambda_{\psi}, \lambda) = \delta(\lambda_{\psi} - \psi)$ , as usual. This makes the model not "maximally  $\psi$ -epistemic", that is, it is not true that for every pair of non-orthogonal states  $\psi$  and  $\phi$  the ontic states  $\mu_{\psi}$  and  $\mu_{\phi}$  have a non-zero overlap. This raises the question: is a "maximally  $\psi$ -epistemic" model possible? This question was raised by the authors of [49] themselves, and answered by George Lowther and Scott Aaronson in the affirmative [50].

### Chapter 2

## **Revealing surrealism**

Make it simple, because I can only understand simple things.

Asher Peres

Reading the previous chapter must have felt like walking in sand, with the definitions and assumptions being challenged and changed all the time. This is unfortunate, but necessary for such a discussion of the foundations of quantum mechanics. In this chapter, however, we shall use what we learned and develop a final definition of contextuality, which will serve as a solid foundation for the work ahead.

Instead of trying to find an ontological embedding of quantum theory, we shall just accept that it can't be done, and try to characterize exactly which parts of quantum mechanics *can't* be embedded in an (noncontextual) ontological theory. We shall do this by examining the probability distributions over certain events<sup>1</sup>: if such a probability distribution can't be reproduced by a noncontextual ontological theory, we shall deem it truly quantum. What for, you ask? These probability distributions will be a resource to do what is impossible in classical theories: quantum computation with an exponential speedup and quantum distribution of cryptographic keys, among other things. In other words, *quantum magic*.

#### 2.1 The correct definition of contextuality

The first thing we need to do is to obtain our final definition of contextuality. As we discussed in section 1.4, we need a definition that is not specifically about quantum mechanics, but instead about probability distributions, as is the case of the definition of locality. This need was recognized by Robert Spekkens in 2005 [11], but he stopped short of doing that: Spekkens arrived at a definition that talked about ontological models instead of quantum theory. His definition (at least, the part of it about measurements) can easily be turned into a definition that only talks about probability distributions, it shall be our

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>"Which events?", you ask. That is the question; for a partial answer, read the rest of the chapter.

definition 24. However, we shall argue that this definition misses the essential point about contextuality.

This necessity was also recognized by Adam Brandenburger and Noson Yanofsky in 2008 [51], but this work limited itself to translating the various notions of contextuality that exist in the literature into statements about probability distributions. It did not try to judge them and obtain a final definition of contextuality.

Prompted by the discovery<sup>2</sup> of the Klyachko inequality<sup>3</sup> [52, 53], this important job was finally done by Adán Cabello, Simone Severini, and Andreas Winter in 2010 [54], where they unified contextuality with the notion of nonlocality and provided algorithms to calculate all its relevant properties<sup>4</sup>. However, the authors have not bothered to motivate their definitions nor even to state them explicitly.

Such a foundational work was done by Samson Abramsky and Adam Brandenburger in 2011 [55], where they have arrived at a definition of contextuality based on probability theory that allowed it to be unified with the notion of nonlocality.<sup>5</sup>

Now, we shall present this definition and argue that it must be the "correct" one. Of course, this statement implies that the definitions discussed in section 1.4 were *wrong*. In fact, it is quite a surprise that the correct definition took 44 years to appear, since the notion was first discussed in [4]. One could also argue<sup>6</sup> that it should be considered 50 years [35, 36], or even 148 years [59].

This language is purposefully provocative and should be considered somewhat tongue-in-cheek, as it does not make sense, strictly speaking, to talk about correct or incorrect definitions. We do believe, however, that the new definition is a significant improvement over the old ones, as it is already proving itself more fruitful.

To begin, let's start with our muse, the definition of locality:

**Definition 20** (Locality). A set of probability distributions  $p(a_i, b_j | A_i, B_j)$ , where *A* and *B* refer to independent systems, is local if there exist response functions  $\xi_{a_i|A_i}(\lambda), \xi_{b_j|B_i}(\lambda)$  and a probability distribution  $\mu(\lambda)$  such that

$$p(a_i, b_j | A_i, B_j) = \int_{\Lambda} d\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \xi_{a_i | A_i}(\lambda) \xi_{b_j | B_j}(\lambda)$$
(2.1)

This definition was motivated by the belief that "correlations cry out for explanation" [60] or, to put it differently<sup>7</sup>, "for those who know  $\lambda$  there are no correlations", which could be interpreted as<sup>8</sup>

$$\xi_{a_i,b_j|A_i,B_j}(\lambda) = \xi_{a_i|A_i}(\lambda)\xi_{b_j|B_j}(\lambda)$$
(2.2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Or rather its publication in Physical Review Letters.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Note that these papers claim to exclude *any* ontological models, including contextual ones. This claim is incorrect.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>We shall discuss this work in section 2.6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Unfortunately, the authors have chosen to write this paper in the language of category theory, making it inaccessible to most physicists. A clearer explanation of some of their concepts can be found in [56–58].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>But we're not going to.

<sup>7</sup>As Marco Túlio does [61].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Of course, we demand that  $p(x|\mathcal{X}) = \int_{\Lambda} d\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \xi_{x|\mathcal{X}}(\lambda)$  for every  $x, \mathcal{X}$ , if anything is to make sense.

Note that equation (2.2) can in fact be proved<sup>9</sup> (and, consequently, (2.1)) if we assume that  $\xi_{a_i,b_i|A_i,B_i}(\lambda)$  is deterministic and non-signalling:

**Definition 21** (No-signalling). We say that a set of probability distributions is non-signalling if for every  $A_i$  the marginal

$$p(a_i|A_i, B_j) = \sum_{b_j} p(a_i, b_j|A_i, B_j)$$

does not depend on  $B_i$ , where A and B refer to independent systems.

**Lemma 22.** Every deterministic probability distribution  $p(a_i, b_j | A_i, B_j)$  is factorizable, i.e., there exist probability distributions  $p(a_i | A_i, B_j)$  and  $p(b_j | A_i, B_j)$  such that

$$p(a_i, b_j | A_i, B_j) = p(a_i | A_i, B_j) p(b_j | A_i, B_j).$$

*Proof.* Define the marginals  $p(a_i|A_i, B_j) = \sum_{b'_j} p(a_i, b'_j|A_i, B_j)$  and  $p(b_j|A_i, B_j) = \sum_{a'_i} p(a'_i, b_j|A_i, B_j)$ . Then

$$p(a_i|A_i, B_j)p(b_j|A_i, B_j) = \sum_{a'_i, b'_j} p(a_i, b'_j|A_i, B_j)p(a'_i, b_j|A_i, B_j)$$
$$= \sum_{a'_i, b'_j} \delta_{a_i a'_i} \delta_{b_j b'_j} (p(a_i, b_j|A_i, B_j))^2$$
$$= p(a_i, b_j|A_i, B_j),$$

since  $p(a_i, b_i | A_i, B_i)$  is nonzero for a single pair  $a_i, b_i$ .

**Theorem 23.** *If a set of probability distributions is deterministic and non-signalling, then it is local.* 

*Proof.* Define  $p(a_i, b_j | A_i, B_j) = \xi_{a_i, b_j | A_i, B_j}(\lambda)$ . Applying lemma 22 and definition 21, we have equation (2.2), which implies locality.

Therefore, if one believes in determinism and (relativity-enforced) nonsignalling, there's quite a good justification for the *factorizability* condition expressed in equation (2.2), and therefore for Bell's definition of locality. But we see that determinism is just a possible justification for it, and not at all a necessary assumption for talking about locality. Without determinism, some valid justifications for factorizability are

- 1. Classical theories are factorizable, as can seen by the Gelfand-Naimark theorem [62]. After all, the motivation for looking for a ontological theory in the first place was to recover our classical intuition in a quantum setting.
- 2. We don't demand that  $\lambda$  gives us deterministic answers; but without factorizability then  $\lambda$  does not even explain correlations. And if  $\lambda$  does not even explain correlations, why bother with it?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>This proof seems to be part of the folklore.

3. A set of probability distributions admits a joint probability distribution if and only if they are factorizable, as proven by the Fine theorem [63] (see our theorem 31):

In fact, in our opinion the best possible justification for the assumption of factorizability is the Fine theorem, as the existence of a global probability distribution is very appealing on physical grounds. It also shows that the assumption of factorizability implies determinism, so there is in fact nothing else to justify.

The Fine theorem shall be our final aim when adapting this discussion to contextuality. We start, however, from humbler considerations. First notice that definition of no-signalling (definition 21) does not require any idle talk about relativity, if we do not require that  $A_i$  and  $B_j$  belong to separate parties, just that they can be measured simultaneously (which is the only prerequisite for talking about their joint distribution). If we rewrite it like this, we end up with a version of Bell's definition of contextuality for probability distributions:

**Definition 24** (Wrong). We say that a set of probability distributions is noncontextual if for every  $A_i$  the marginal

$$p(a_i|A_i, A_j) = \sum_{a_j} p(a_i, a_j|A_i, A_j)$$

does not depend on  $A_i$ .

It is also fair to consider this definition to be a version of Spekkens' definition of measurement contextuality for probability distributions. But we know that this definition is not enough for locality: if we do not also assume factorizability – or determinism – all hell breaks loose: it becomes trivial to construct models that violate locality. In fact, notice that the trivial ontological model discussed in section 1.2.1 – which is neither factorizable nor deterministic – violates locality; and that by this limited definition of contextuality it would be considered noncontextual, a truly unacceptable proposition. That is why we call these definitions wrong: they are just a generalization of no-signalling. Certainly desirable and useful, but not the whole story.

Following [64], we shall call this generalized no-sigalling property *no-disturbance*:

**Definition 25** (No-disturbance). We say that a set of probability distributions respects no-disturbance if for every  $A_i$  the marginal

$$p(a_i|A_i, A_j) = \sum_{a_j} p(a_i, a_j|A_i, A_j)$$

does not depend on  $A_i$ .

The full definition of noncontextuality follows from joining no-disturbance with factorizability, mirroring the definition of locality:

**Definition 26** (Contextuality). *A set of probability distributions*  $p(a_i, a_j | A_i, A_j)$  *is noncontextual if there is a probability distribution*  $\mu(\lambda)$  *and response functions*  $\xi_{a_i|A_i}(\lambda)$  *such that* 

$$p(a_i, a_j | A_i, A_j) = \int_{\Lambda} \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \xi_{a_i | A_i}(\lambda) \xi_{a_j | A_j}(\lambda).$$

Note that this definition is not quite revolutionary, as most works on contextuality only considered *deterministic* noncontextuality. Its great value comes from the clarity it provides, particularly on the issue of non-deterministic models: it becomes immediately obvious how to allow for nondeterminism without trivializing our requirements, and shows that the discussion on whether the response functions associated to effects must be deterministic is completely irrelevant. In fact, with it we can ask whether POVMs can be useful to observe contextuality, a question hitherto unexplored.

Furthermore, it should be clear that this definition is exactly the same as the definition of locality, modulo the restriction that  $A_i$  and  $A_j$  are observables on separate subsystems; so locality is just a (interesting) particular case of noncontextuality<sup>10</sup>. We shall therefore only talk about contextuality and non-contextuality, restricting our attention to locality if interesting. Notice also that although we only talk about pairs of jointly measurable observables, this definition is naturally extended for sets of any (finite) size, with a corresponding extension to multipartite locality.

To complete the discussion of contextuality, the only thing lacking is a Fine theorem for noncontextual distributions. By now it should be obvious that it must exist, but we prefer to stop here and establish some notation and formalize what we already have, in order to be able to give a more precise statement. The theorem shall be proved in the next section.

#### 2.2 The marginal problem

This notation and definitions are from [55, 57, 58], and are just a formalization of the discussion of the previous section.

Let  $\mathcal{X} = \{X_0, \dots, X_{k-1}\}$  be a set of random variables.

**Definition 27** (Marginal scenario). A marginal scenario C is a collection  $C = \{C_0, \ldots, C_{n-1}\}$  of subsets  $C_i \subseteq \mathcal{X}$  such that  $C' \subseteq C_i$  implies  $C' \in C$ .

The motivation behind this definition is to define which subsets of  $\mathcal{X}$  can be measured simultaneously, in order to actually measure them and generate the probability distributions that will be tested for compatibility. We call the subsets  $C_i$  contexts, and C is the set of all measurable contexts. Note that in quantum mechanics C will be precisely the subsets of  $\mathcal{X}$  that commute pairwise.

An interesting particular case is that of Bell scenarios:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Note that even when one is only interested in tests of noncontextuality, this particular case is quite useful, since spatial separation is a good experimental technique to ensure compatibility of the measured observables.

**Definition 28** (Bell scenario). We say that a marginal scenario C is a (bipartite) Bell scenario when there is a partition of X into two sets  $A = \{A_i\}$  and  $B = \{B_i\}$  such that each context  $C_i \in C$  contains at most one observable from A and one observable from B. The multipartite case can be defined in the same fashion.

Note that each context will be of the form  $C_i = \{A_k, B_l\}$  (plus the singletons  $C_i = \{A_k\}$  or  $C_i = \{B_l\}$ ), so we can always implement this scenario in quantum mechanics via a tensor product structure, *i.e.*, by defining observables  $A_i = \tilde{A}_i \otimes \mathbb{1}$  and  $B_j = \mathbb{1} \otimes \tilde{B}_j$ . It then becomes possible to consider A and B as independent, spatially separated quantum systems, and to make the measurement of  $A_i$  and  $B_j$  with a space-like separation. In this way, each choice of context can be justified by an assumption of causality. A natural example of a Bell scenario is the CHSH scenario<sup>11</sup>, where

$$\mathcal{C}_{CHSH} = \{\{A_0\}, \{A_1\}, \{B_0\}, \{B_1\}, \{A_0, B_0\}, \{A_0, B_1\}, \{A_1, B_0\}, \{A_1, B_1\}\}.$$

This definition is only interesting because there are marginal scenarios where one cannot justify the choice of context by arguing that they are measurements on independent subsystems. This scenario is useful for proofs of contextuality, not nonlocality. An interesting example of it is the Klyachko scenario<sup>12</sup>, where

$$C_{K} = \{\{A_{0}\}, \{A_{1}\}, \{A_{2}\}, \{A_{3}\}, \{A_{4}\}, \\ \{A_{0}, A_{1}\}, \{A_{1}, A_{2}\}, \{A_{2}, A_{3}\}, \{A_{3}, A_{4}\}, \{A_{4}, A_{0}\}\}.$$

There is still a third interesting case, a *partial* Bell scenario, where it is still natural to define two subsystems, but we can't justify *all* the contexts by an assumption of causality, only some. A trivial example of such a scenario would be joining  $C_K$  with an observable  $B_0$  that can be in every context of  $C_K$ . A more interesting example would joining  $C_K$  with a copy of itself  $C'_K$ , where we assume that every observable in the first scenario can be in a context with every observable in the second scenario. In this case, we can have violations of both noncontextuality and locality, with some violations of noncontextuality not implying a violation of locality. But we are getting ahead of ourselves; to properly define what we mean by a violation we need a method of assigning probabilities to marginal scenarios and a definition of noncontextuality and locality within this formalism.

**Definition 29** (Marginal model<sup>13</sup>). *A marginal model* Cp *of a marginal scenario* C *is an assignment of probability distributions*  $C_i \mapsto p(c_i|C_i)$  *such that*<sup>14</sup>

$$C_i \subseteq C_j \Rightarrow \sum_{c_j \setminus c_i} p(c_j | C_j) = p(c_i | C_i)$$

That is, for every context  $C_i$  we assign a probability distribution  $p(c_i|C_i)$ , where  $c_i$  is a vector of possible answers to the random variables contained

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Which shall be discussed in section 2.5.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Which shall be discussed in section 2.5.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Alternative names for marginal models are *behaviour* [65] and *box* [66].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>With a slight abuse of notation.

within  $C_i$ . Note that this rather minimal compatibility condition on the marginals of the probability distributions is just the no-disturbance condition (definition 25). We chose to demand it because marginal models that violate no-disturbance are trivially contextual, and we want to restrict our attention to the interesting cases.

The reason for this definition is that we can assign these probability distributions to the context in an empirical manner – for example, from quantum mechanical measurements – opening up the possibility of a experimental test of locality and noncontextuality.

With the definition of a marginal model, it becomes possible to state the definition of contextuality within this formalism:

**Definition 30** (Contextuality). A marginal model is noncontextual if there are response functions  $\xi_{x_i|X_i}(\lambda)$  and a probability distribution  $\mu(\lambda)$  such that for every  $C_i \in C$ 

$$p(c_i|C_i) = \int_{\Lambda} \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \prod_{x_n \in c_i} \xi_{x_n|X_n}(\lambda)$$

Naturally, we say that a marginal model is contextual if it is not noncontextual. Note that the definition of locality is the same, with the restriction that the marginal scenario is actually a Bell scenario; analogously, we say that a marginal model is nonlocal if it is not local.

Having definition 30, we can state and prove the generalized Fine theorem that motivates it<sup>1516</sup>:

**Theorem 31** (Fine [55, 63, 67]). A marginal model C is noncontextual iff there exists a probability distribution  $p(x|\mathcal{X})$  such that for every  $C_i \in C$ 

$$p(c_i|C_i) = \sum_{x \setminus c_i} p(x|\mathcal{X})$$

Proof.

⇒ By noncontextuality, there are response functions  $\xi_{x_i|X_i}(\lambda)$  and a probability distribution  $\mu(\lambda)$  such that for every  $C_i \in C$ 

$$p(c_i|C_i) = \int_{\Lambda} \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \prod_{x_n \in c_i} \xi_{x_n|X_n}(\lambda).$$

Define

$$p(x|\mathcal{X}) = \int_{\Lambda} \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \prod_{x_n \in x} \xi_{x_n|X_n}(\lambda)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>It was first considered by Liang et al. [67] and proved by Abramsky et al. [55].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>In fact, the motivation is so strong that some prefer to consider definition <u>30</u> as defining "objective reality" instead of noncontextuality [56]. Although we agree that this interpretation is not inappropriate, we prefer to avoid such dramatic terms.

Then any marginal  $p(c_i|C_i)$  is given by

$$p(c_i|C_i) = \sum_{x \setminus c_i} p(x|\mathcal{X})$$
$$= \int_{\Lambda} d\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \sum_{x \setminus c_i} \prod_{x_n \in x} \xi_{x_n|X_n}(\lambda)$$
$$= \int_{\Lambda} d\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \prod_{x_n \in c_i} \xi_{x_n|X_n}(\lambda)$$

 $\leftarrow$  Every probability distribution  $p(x|\mathcal{X})$  can be written as a convex combination of deterministic points, so let

$$p(x|\mathcal{X}) = \int_{\Lambda} \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \xi_{x|\mathcal{X}}(\lambda).$$

Since deterministic probability distributions are factorizable (lemma 22), we can write

$$p(x|\mathcal{X}) = \int_{\Lambda} \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \prod_{x_n \in \mathcal{X}} \xi_{x_n|X_n}(\lambda).$$

By assumption,  $p(c_i|C_i) = \sum_{x \setminus c_i} p(x|\mathcal{X})$ , so

$$p(c_i|C_i) = \int_{\Lambda} d\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \sum_{x \setminus c_i} \prod_{x_n \in \mathcal{X}} \xi_{x_n|X_n}(\lambda)$$
$$= \int_{\Lambda} d\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \prod_{x_n \in c_i} \xi_{x_n|X_n}(\lambda).$$

Note that in the proof of the Fine theorem we can choose the response functions  $\xi_{x_n|X_n}(\lambda)$  to be always deterministic, so

**Corollary 32.** A marginal model is noncontextual if and only if there are deterministic response functions  $\xi_{x_i|X_i}(\lambda)$  and a probability distribution  $\mu(\lambda)$  such that for every  $C_i \in C$ 

$$p(c_i|C_i) = \int_{\Lambda} \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \prod_{x_n \in c_i} \xi_{x_n|X_n}(\lambda)$$

This corollary can be viewed as an alternative (equivalent) definition of noncontextuality.

Now, we can finally state the problem of separating between classical and quantum:

**Problem 1** (Marginal problem). *How to decide whether a given marginal model is noncontextual or contextual?* 

This formulation of the problem makes its mathematical treatment much easier, since there is extensive literature (and software) on solving the marginal problem. But perhaps its greatest contribution is ending the debate on whether contextuality can or not be observed in a laboratory: one measures a marginal model, and then it is just a mathematical question whether it is contextual or not. The "finite-precision" [32, 68] loophole is just not relevant in this formulation, as the set of contextual marginal models has non-empty interior.

 $\square$ 

#### 2.3 A first example

If we only have two random variables, there's nothing interesting to be done, since either we already have the global distribution, or we can generate it simply by defining<sup>17</sup>  $p(x_0, x_1 | X_0, X_1) = p(x_0 | X_0) p(x_1 | X_1)$ , so the simplest nontrivial scenario must contain at least three random variables. In fact, there is a nice little example of it, taken from [67], which took it from Specker's parable of the over-protective seer, that can be found in [35, 36]. In it, we have three binary random variables  $X_0$ ,  $X_1$ , and  $X_2$  that are measured pairwise, and found to be always anti-correlated. Formalizing it, the marginal scenario is

 $\mathcal{OS} = \{\{X_0\}, \{X_1\}, \{X_2\}, \{X_0, X_1\}, \{X_1, X_2\}, \{X_2, X_0\}\},\$ 

and its marginal model OSp is (with a slight abuse of notation)

$$\mathcal{OS}p = (p(x_0|X_0), p(x_1|X_1), p(x_2|X_2), p(x_0, x_1|X_0, X_1), p(x_1, x_2|X_1, X_2), p(x_2, x_0|X_2, X_0)),$$
(2.3)

which for convenience we arrange in the following tables:

					$X_0, X_1$	$X_1, X_2$	$X_2, X_0$
	$X_0$	$X_1$	$X_2$	p(+,+)	0	0	0
p(+)	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	p(+,-)	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$
p(-)	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	p(-,+)	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$
				p(-,-)	0	0	0

To see that this marginal model is contextual, we shall use the Fine theorem (theorem 31), as in [67], by showing that there can be no global probability distribution p(x|X) with these marginals.

#### **Theorem 33.** *The marginal model OSp is contextual.*

*Proof.*  $p(+, +|X_0, X_1) = 0$  implies that both  $p(+, +, +|X_0, X_1, X_2)$  and  $p(+, +, -|X_0, X_1, X_2)$  must be zero. Proceeding in this way with the other marginals, we can show that all  $p(x_0, x_1, x_2|X_0, X_1, X_2)$  are zero, an absurd. So there is no global probability distribution and by theorem **31** OSp is contextual.

An interesting question is then whether this contextual marginal model can be used as a proof of contextuality for quantum mechanics. Unfortunately this is not the case, as it requires all three products of observables  $X_iX_j$  to be measurable; in quantum mechanics this means that they must commute, and therefore the observable  $X_0X_1X_2$  must be measurable, giving rise to the joint

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>A moment's thought will convince you that if the marginal scenario contains only the singletons  $X_n$ , we can always do this and prove that it is noncontextual.

probability distribution that must not exist. A marginal scenario with three random variables that averts this problem is

$$\mathcal{V} = \{\{X_0\}, \{X_1\}, \{X_2\}, \{X_0, X_1\}, \{X_1, X_2\}\},\$$

since it is perfectly possible that  $X_1$  commutes with both  $X_0$  and  $X_2$ , but  $X_0$  and  $X_2$  does not commute. But this marginal scenario is even more trivial than the previous one, since there is always a noncontextual marginal model for it<sup>18</sup>. As these two are the only nontrivial marginal scenario with three random variables, we must have at least four random variables if we want a contextual marginal model realizable within quantum mechanics, and in fact there exists one. To be able to explore it, though, we need a bit more structure, since a direct proof of contextuality *à la* theorem 33 can be done only for the simplest cases. In the next section, we shall develop a general algorithm to decide whether a given marginal model is contextual or not.

#### 2.4 Boole inequalities

When satisfied they indicate that the data *may* have, when not satisfied they indicate that the data *cannot* have, resulted from actual observation George Boole [59]

To be able to solve problem 1, we shall first take a step back and examine its geometry. We shall see that the sets of marginal models are convex polytopes, and these can be described by a finite set of linear inequalities, and so the question of whether a given marginal model is contextual or not is reduced to checking if it satisfies all the inequalities for its marginal scenario. This can be done efficiently, but with two caveats: obtaining the inequalities for a given scenario is a difficult problem (albeit one that can be done by software), and the number of inequalities for a marginal scenario may increase exponentially with the number of contexts<sup>19</sup>.

In this section we shall need a number of basic results in convex geometry, which we shall make no attempt to prove. Instead, we refer the interested reader to the excellent book "Lectures on Polytopes" [69].

#### 2.4.1 Sets of marginal models

There are for now two sets of marginal models that interests us: the set of all marginal models, and the set of noncontextual marginal models. We shall see that both are convex polytopes.

**Definition 34** (Convex polytope). *A convex polytope is a bounded intersection of closed halfspaces.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Since we can just define  $p(x_0, x_1, x_2|X_0, X_1, X_2) = p(x_0, x_1|X_0, X_1)p(x_1, x_2|X_1, X_2)/p(x_1|X_1)$ . <sup>19</sup>As in the example of section 2.5.

**Theorem 35.** The set of all marginal models for a given marginal scenario is a convex polytope.

*Proof.* Consider the marginal scenario

$$\mathcal{C} = \{C_1, \ldots, C_N\},\$$

and a marginal model

$$\mathcal{C}p = (p(c_1|C_1), \dots, p(c_N|C_N)).$$

The fact that each  $p(c_i|C_i)$  is a probability distribution is encoded by the linear inequalities<sup>20</sup>  $p(c_i|C_i) \ge 0$  and  $\sum_{c_i} p(c_i|C_i) = 1$ , and the fact that this set of probability distributions is a marginal model is encoded by the no-disturbance condition expressed in the definition 25, which is just another set of linear inequalities. It remains to show that the set is bounded, but this follows from the fact that each element of Cp belongs to [0, 1]. 

We shall call the set of all marginal models the *no-disturbance polytope*.

To see that the set of noncontextual marginal models is also a convex polytope, it is easier to use another equivalent<sup>21</sup> definition of convex polytopes:

**Definition 36** (Convex polytope). A convex polytope is the convex hull of a finite set of points in some  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

**Theorem 37.** The set of all noncontextual marginal models for a given marginal is a convex polytope.

Proof. Consider the marginal scenario

$$\mathcal{C} = \{C_1, \ldots, C_N\},\$$

and a marginal model

$$\mathcal{C}p = (p(c_1|C_1), \dots, p(c_N|C_N)).$$

By the corollary 32 of the Fine theorem 31, there is a probability distribution  $\mu(\lambda)$  and deterministic response functions  $\xi_{x_n|X_n}(\lambda)$  such that

$$p(c_i|C_i) = \int_{\Lambda} \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \prod_{x_n \in c_i} \xi_{x_n|X_n}(\lambda),$$

and so

$$Cp = \int_{\Lambda} d\lambda \, \mu(\lambda) \left( \prod_{x_n \in c_1} \xi_{x_n \mid X_n}(\lambda), \dots, \prod_{x_n \in c_N} \xi_{x_n \mid X_n}(\lambda) \right),$$

that is, Cp is a convex combination of the points

$$\left(\prod_{x_n\in c_1}\xi_{x_n|X_n}(\lambda),\ldots,\prod_{x_n\in c_N}\xi_{x_n|X_n}(\lambda)\right).$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>Remember that the equality x = k is just the combination of the inequalities  $x \leq k$  and  $\geq k$ . <sup>21</sup>The proof of their equivalence is the famous Minkowski-Weyl theorem.

Since the response functions are deterministic and we are dealing with a finite number of dichotomic random variables, the number of different points is finite, and so a marginal model is the convex combination of a finite number of points.  $\hfill \Box$ 

Analogously, the set of all noncontextual marginal models shall be called the *noncontextual polytope*.

As a consequence of this proof, we see that the vertices of the noncontextual polytope are simply the deterministic probability distributions for the outcomes of each context, and as such they are trivial to find. What we want to do, then, is from this list of vertices obtain the linear inequalities that describe the noncontextual polytopes. This is a classical problem in convex geometry, and there are plenty of algorithms and software for solving it. Here we shall use the reverse search algorithm, due to Avis and Fukuda [70], as implemented in the software lrs [71]. Following Itamar Pitowsky, we call these *Boole inequalities*.

Before exploring them, we need a refinement in our representation of marginal models.

#### 2.4.2 Representing marginal models

When writing down a marginal model, such as (2.3), one immediately notices that it has a lot of redundancies. First of all, the joint probability distributions of a context completely determines its marginals, since a marginal model respects no-disturbance by definition. Furthermore, for each context there is one parameter that is already determined by normalization, and finally each random variable is usually shared by two or more contexts, so the joint probability distributions of different contexts are not independent, as they might share some marginals.

All these reasons motivates us to find another representation of a marginal model, that already incorporates normalization and no-disturbance. When using only dichotomic random variables (as we shall do in this thesis), the best representation is via the expectation value of each context, as they contain all the information of a marginal model with no redundancies.

**Theorem 38.** For dichotomic random variables, a marginal model can be represented by the expectation values of all contexts with no redundancies.

*Proof.* To check that, it is enough to see that all the information present on the marginal model is preserved when it is translated into expected values, *i.e.*, there is a (linear) invertible transformation between a marginal model and a vector of all the allowed expected values. Consider, for instance, the joint probability distribution for the context  $\{X_0, X_1\}$ . The transformation is

and inversibility comes from the fact that the matrix is proportional to its inverse. The proof for contexts with more than two random variables is more boring but essentially the same.  $\hfill \Box$ 

As this representation already assumes normalization and no-disturbance, the only information that it lacks is positivity. Since positivity does not reduce the number of dimensions, it is not possible to find a representation that already assumes it. Instead, one enforces it via the inequalities

$$4p(+,+|X_0,X_1) = 1 + \langle X_0 \rangle + \langle X_1 \rangle + \langle X_0 X_1 \rangle \ge 0$$
(2.5a)

$$4p(+,-|X_0,X_1) = 1 + \langle X_0 \rangle - \langle X_1 \rangle - \langle X_0 X_1 \rangle \ge 0$$
(2.5b)

$$4p(-,+|X_0,X_1) = 1 - \langle X_0 \rangle + \langle X_1 \rangle - \langle X_0 X_1 \rangle \ge 0$$
(2.5c)

$$4p(-,-|X_0,X_1) = 1 - \langle X_0 \rangle - \langle X_1 \rangle + \langle X_0 X_1 \rangle \ge 0$$
(2.5d)

which are obtained by inverting transformation (2.4).

Using this representation also gives us some notational convenience: since we have one expected value for each context, we can define a marginal model simply by assigning one expected value for each context in a marginal scenario. For example, the marginal model for the marginal scenario

$$\mathcal{OS} = \{\{X_0\}, \{X_1\}, \{X_2\}, \{X_0, X_1\}, \{X_1, X_2\}, \{X_2, X_0\}\},\$$

originally written as (2.3), shall be

$$\mathcal{OSp} = (\langle X_0 \rangle, \langle X_1 \rangle, \langle X_2 \rangle, \langle X_0 X_1 \rangle, \langle X_1 X_2 \rangle, \langle X_2 X_0 \rangle), \tag{2.6}$$

which is easily calculated as

$$OSp = (0, 0, 0, -1, -1, -1).$$
 (2.7)

Another advantage of this representation is that we can easily see which statistics that indicate correlations between random variables, such as  $\langle X_i X_j \rangle$ , and which only talk about individual systems, such as  $\langle X_i \rangle$ . We shall see that it is quite common to study inequalities that only take into account correlations between random variables<sup>22</sup>: these are called *full-correlation* inequalities. When talking about contexts with more than two random variables, this name is applied only to inequalities that take into account the largest possible contexts.

#### 2.4.3 The noncontextual polytope for OS

Now that we have a good representation, we can discuss the first example of Boole inequalities. We shall obtain them for the marginal scenario OS. The first thing we need are the vertices of the noncontextual polytope, which are simply the 2<sup>3</sup> deterministic assignments ±1 to each random variable  $\langle X_i \rangle$ . Written in the ordering given by equation (2.6), they are

(+,+,+,+,+,+)	(-,+,+,-,+,-)
(+,+,-,+,-,-)	(-,+,-,-,+)
(+,-,+,-,-,+)	(-,-,+,+,-,-)
(+, -, -, -, +, -)	(-,-,-,+,+,+)
(+,-,+,-,-,+) (+,-,-,-,+,-)	(-,-,+,+,-,-) (-,-,-,+,+,+,+,+,+)

<sup>22</sup>In fact, only these shall be studied in this thesis.



Figure 2.1: Full correlations parts of the noncontextual polytope – green tetrahedron – and no-disturbance polytope – black cube – for the marginal scenario OS. Note that this is a projection onto the last three components.

where for clarity we have omitted the ones. Inputting these vertices into  $1rs^{23}$ , it returns 16 inequalities to us: 12 are the positivity conditions (2.5) for each pair of random variables, and 4 are the Boole inequalities

$$-\langle X_0 X_1 \rangle - \langle X_1 X_2 \rangle - \langle X_2 X_0 \rangle \le 1$$
 (2.8a)

$$-\langle X_0 X_1 \rangle + \langle X_1 X_2 \rangle + \langle X_2 X_0 \rangle \le 1$$
(2.8b)

$$+\langle X_0 X_1 \rangle - \langle X_1 X_2 \rangle + \langle X_2 X_0 \rangle \le 1$$
(2.8c)

$$+\langle X_0 X_1 \rangle + \langle X_1 X_2 \rangle - \langle X_2 X_0 \rangle \le 1$$
(2.8d)

The marginal model OSp, equation (2.7), is then easily seen to violate inequality (2.8a), being thereby contextual.

Exactly these same inequalities were obtained by Pitowsky using Boole's method [59, 72].

#### 2.5 The *n*-cycle

As we have discussed before, it is not possible to violate the Boole inequalities for the marginal scenario OS with quantum mechanics. However, there is a natural generalization of this scenario which *does* have a quantum violation. Consider the set of random variables  $\mathcal{X} = \{X_0, ..., X_{n-1}\}$ , and the marginal model  $C^n$  formed by considering the singletons  $X_i$  together with the pairs  $\{X_i, X_{i+1}\}$ , where naturally the addition is taken modulo *n*. For n = 3,  $C^n$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>For those that do not like this kind of proof, we shall obtain these same inequalities in the next section via a parity argument.

is the marginal scenario OS discussed before. For general *n* this scenario is called the *n*-cycle, as its compatibility<sup>24</sup> graph is a *n*-cycle, as shown in figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2: Contexts for the 3-cycle, 4-cycle, and 5-cycle.

The *n*-cycle marginal scenario is an old problem that was studied many times. The 2-cycle<sup>25</sup> was characterized by George Boole in 1862 [59, 72], who also provided the general algorithm for solving the marginal problem. The 3-cycle was first studied by Ernst Specker in 1960 [35, 36], and characterized by Itamar Pitowsky in 1989 [73]. The 4-cycle was characterized by Arthur Fine in 1982 [63]. The 5-cycle was characterized by Alexander Klyachko in 2002 [52]. The *n*-cycle for all odd *n* was studied by Yeong-Cherng Liang, Robert Spekkens, and Howard Wiseman in 2010 [67], and also by Adán Cabello, Simone Severini, and Andreas Winter in the same year [54]. The general *n*-cycle was studied by Rafael Chaves and Tobias Fritz in 2012, who derived entropic inequalities which are necessary but not sufficient for noncontextuality for all *n* [57, 58]. An answer to the general question was conjectured by Cabello *et al.* in 2012 [43]. It will be given here<sup>26</sup>.

The Boole inequalities for this scenario can be derived from the simple algebraic observation that if  $\alpha_i = \pm 1$  are the components of a *n*-element vector, then the vector  $\beta$  with *n* components  $\beta_i = \alpha_i \alpha_{i+1}$  always has an *even* number of negative components. Therefore, if we define a third vector  $\gamma$  with an *odd* number of negative components, then

$$\langle \gamma, \beta \rangle \le n-2,$$
 (2.9)

since to maximize the inner product we should set  $\beta = \gamma$ , but this would force  $\beta$  to have an odd number of negative components, which is impossible. The best we can do then is to switch one of the -1 to +1, which gives us the desired bound.

If we now set  $\langle X_i \rangle = \alpha_i$ , then  $\beta_i = \langle X_i X_{i+1} \rangle$  is the full-correlation part of the vertices of the noncontextual polytope for this marginal scenario, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>The graph that has random variables as vertices and edges connect random variables that are in the same context.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>As we discussed before, in this case the noncontextual polytope coincides with the nodisturbance polytope, and therefore its facets are only the positivity conditions (2.5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>The results of this and the next section are new [74].

inequality (2.9) becomes the Boole inequality

$$\mathcal{B}_n = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \gamma_i \langle X_i X_{i+1} \rangle \le n-2.$$
(2.10)

Since these are satisfied by noncontextual vertices, they are also satisfied by the convex combinations of them, and so every noncontextual marginal model respects these inequalities. We claim that these  $2^{n-1}$  inequalities are all the Boole inequalities for the *n*-cycle. To prove this, we shall check that these inequalities are actually facets of the noncontextual polytope, and that there are no more Boole inequalities for the *n*-cycle.

**Theorem 39.** *All inequalities* (2.10) *are facets of the noncontextual polytope for the n-cycle.* 

*Proof.* We will check that each Boole inequality (2.10) is saturated by 2n affinely independent vertices of the noncontextual polytope, that generate an affine subspace of dimension 2n - 1. Note that if we flip the sign of any component  $\gamma_i$  of the Boole inequality  $\gamma$ , then this new vector  $\gamma'$  satisfies  $\langle \gamma, \gamma' \rangle = n - 2$  and has an even number of negative components, so we have obtained the full-correlation part of a noncontextual vertex that saturates the Boole inequalities. Since there are two ways of completing the local part of a noncontextual vertex that are consistent with a given full-correlation part and we have *n* components  $\gamma_i$  to flip the sign, in this manner we obtain 2n vertices of the noncontextual polytope that saturate the Boole inequality  $\gamma$ . To check that they are affinely independent is trivial.

To check that there are no more Boole inequalities, we need first to characterize the contextual vertices of the no-disturbance polytope.

**Theorem 40.** The vertices of the no-disturbance polytope are the  $2^n$  noncontextual deterministic marginal models

$$(\langle X_0 \rangle, \dots, \langle X_{n-1} \rangle, \langle X_0 \rangle \langle X_1 \rangle, \dots, \langle X_{n-1} \rangle \langle X_0 \rangle), \qquad (2.11)$$

where  $\langle X_i \rangle = \pm 1$ , together with the  $2^{n-1}$  contextual marginal models of the form

$$(0,\ldots,0,\langle X_0X_1\rangle,\ldots,\langle X_{n-1}X_0\rangle), \tag{2.12}$$

where  $\langle X_i X_{i+1} \rangle = \pm 1$  such that number of negative components is odd.

*Proof.* By definition, the vertices of the polytope are given by the intersection of 2n independent hyperplanes, *i.e.*, as a unique solution for a set of 2n independent linear equations chosen among the 4n equations (2.5). The above vertices are obtained by choosing two equations among (2.5a)-(2.5d), for each index *i*. In particular, contextual vertices are obtained by choosing equations (2.5a) and (2.5d) for an odd number of indexes *i* and equations (2.5b) and (2.5c) for the remaining indexes.

It is straightforward to check that all other possible strategies for obtaining a vertex, *i.e.*, involving the choice of 1, 2 or 3 equations for each index *i*, give the same set of vertices.

We now show that by eliminating each contextual vertex of the no-disturbance polytope we obtain only one noncontextuality inequality. By eliminating all  $2^{n-1}$  contextual vertices, we obtain  $2^{n-1}$  noncontextuality inequalities and the convex hull of all noncontextual vertices, *i.e.*, the noncontextual polytope.

**Lemma 41.** Let *C* be a contextual vertex, and consider the inequality (2.9) with  $\gamma = C$ . Then the intersection of the half-space  $\langle \gamma, P \rangle \leq n - 2$  with the no-disturbance polytope is the convex hull of all vertices but *C*.

*Proof.* To show that, we shall check that the vertices of the intersection of the half-space  $\langle \gamma, P \rangle \leq n-2$  with the no-disturbance polytope are a subset of the vertices of the no-disturbance polytope. For contradiction, suppose that the intersection generates a new vertex P' that was not a vertex of the no-disturbance polytope. Then  $\langle \gamma, P' \rangle = n-2$  and, furthermore, P' must lie on an edge connected to C, since all the other vertices respect the inequality. Edges of the no-disturbance polytope must saturate 2n - 1 independent positivity conditions (2.5), and therefore P' must saturate 2n - 1 inequalities which are a subset of the 2n inequalities saturated by the vertex C.

Let  $\beta$  be the full-correlation part of *C*, and  $\delta$  the full-correlation part of *P'*. For each *i*, if  $\beta_i = +1$ , then *C* saturates (2.5b) and (2.5c). If  $\beta_i = -1$ , *C* saturates (2.5a) and (2.5d). Therefore, for every *i* but one, let's say, *i*<sub>0</sub>, *P'* must saturate both positivity conditions; but saturating them both implies that  $\delta_i = \beta_i$ , leaving only  $\delta_{i_0}$  free. But if we now demand that  $\langle \gamma, P' \rangle = n - 2$ , then  $\delta_{i_0} = -\beta_{i_0}$ , and therefore *P'* is just an old noncontextual vertex.

To summarize our results: the no-disturbance polytope has  $2^n + 2^{n-1}$  vertices, of which  $2^n$  are noncontextual and  $2^{n-1}$  are contextual. It has 4n facets, which are the positivity conditions (2.5). The noncontextual polytope has  $2^n$  vertices and  $4n + 2^{n-1}$  facets.

#### 2.5.1 Quantum violations

The Boole inequalities for the *n*-cycle are violated by quantum mechanics for every  $n \ge 4$ . Since the inequalities for a given *n* are all equivalent via relabellings, it is enough to violate one of them. For odd *n*, we choose the inequality with all  $\gamma_i = -1$ . The minimal dimension we need to violate the Boole inequalities is 3, the state is always  $|0\rangle$ , and the observables<sup>27</sup> are  $A_k = 2|v_k\rangle\langle v_k| - 1$ , where

$$|v_k\rangle = (\cos\theta, \sin\theta\cos\phi_k, \sin\theta\sin\phi_k),$$

where

$$\phi_k = \frac{n-1}{n}\pi k$$

and

$$\cos^2\theta = \frac{\cos\frac{\pi}{n}}{1+\cos\frac{\pi}{n}}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>These states and observables are from [67].

Then 
$$\langle 0|A_k A_{k+1}|0\rangle = -4|\langle 0|v_k\rangle|^2 + 1 = -4\cos^2\theta + 1$$
, and

$$\mathcal{B}_n = n \left( 4 \frac{\cos \frac{\pi}{n}}{1 + \cos \frac{\pi}{n}} - 1 \right). \tag{2.13}$$

The noncontextual bound is  $\mathcal{B}_n \leq n-2$ . This inequality is saturated for n = 3, and violated for all  $n \geq 5$ . To see this, it is enough to use some simple algebra and the fact that

$$\cos\frac{\pi}{n} > 1 - \frac{\pi^2}{n^2}$$

for all *n*.

For even *n*, we choose the inequality for which all  $\gamma_i = -1$  except for  $\gamma_{n-1} = +1$ . Dimension 4 is enough to violate<sup>28</sup> it for all *n*, with the state

$$|\psi_{-}\rangle = |01\rangle - |10\rangle$$
,

and the observables<sup>29</sup>  $X_k = \tilde{X}_k \otimes \mathbb{1}$  for even k and  $X_k = \mathbb{1} \otimes \tilde{X}_k$  for odd k, where

$$\tilde{X}_k = \cos\frac{k\pi}{n}\sigma_x + \sin\frac{k\pi}{n}\sigma_z,$$

and  $\sigma_x$ ,  $\sigma_z$  are the Pauli matrices.

We can then check that

$$X_k X_{k+1} |\psi_-
angle = -\cosrac{\pi}{n} |\psi_-
angle - \sinrac{\pi}{n} |\phi_+
angle$$

for every *k* except k = n - 1, when

$$X_{n-1}X_0|\psi_-
angle=\cosrac{\pi}{n}|\psi_-
angle-\sinrac{\pi}{n}|\phi_+
angle.$$

Therefore,

$$\mathcal{B}_n = n \cos \frac{\pi}{n},\tag{2.14}$$

so the noncontextual bound is saturated for n = 2, and violated for all  $n \ge 4$ .

Note that in both the even and odd cases  $\lim_{n\to\infty} B_n = n$ , the algebraic bound.

#### 2.5.2 The CHSH inequality

The 4-cycle is actually a Bell scenario, since every observable in the set  $\{X_0, X_2\}$  commutes with every observable in the set  $\{X_1, X_3\}$ . Renaming  $A_0 = X_0$ ,  $A_1 = X_2$ ,  $B_0 = X_1$ , and  $B_1 = X_3$ , we have the famous CHSH inequality [76].

$$\langle A_0 B_0 \rangle + \langle A_0 B_1 \rangle + \langle A_1 B_0 \rangle - \langle A_0 B_1 \rangle \le 2$$

The maximal quantum violation for it – its Tsirelson bound [77] – is  $2\sqrt{2}$ . This inequality was used in countless experimental tests of nonlocality, of which the most famous are the first, by Freedman and Clauser [20], and Aspect's [78].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>We conjecture that this is in fact the minimal dimension. For n = 4 the proof is well-known. <sup>29</sup>These states and observables are from [75].

#### 2.5.3 The Klyachko inequality

The 5-cycle was studied before by Klyachko [52], and the following inequality got his name:

$$-\langle X_0 X_1 \rangle - \langle X_1 X_2 \rangle - \langle X_2 X_3 \rangle - \langle X_3 X_4 \rangle - \langle X_4 X_0 \rangle \le 3.$$

Its Tsirelson bound is  $4\sqrt{5} - 5$ . It is the simplest Boole inequality that is not also a Bell inequality that can be violated by quantum mechanics. It was also the first such inequality to be discovered<sup>30</sup>. Since this inequality can violated by qutrits, and only requires the measurement of 5 observables, it allows one of simplest possible tests of noncontextuality. Such an experimental test has in fact been carried out [79].

#### 2.6 Boole inequalities as graphs

The quantum violations presented in the previous section are in fact the largest possible. Proving this, though, requires a bit of effort. To do that, we shall use the techniques from [54].

First of all, notice that to study the quantum violation of a Boole inequality, we could have represented them as operators; instead of writing them as

$$\mathcal{B}_n = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \gamma_i \langle X_i X_{i+1} \rangle \leq n-2,$$

we could have defined an operator

$$\hat{\mathcal{B}}_n = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \gamma_i X_i X_{i+1}$$

such that  $\mathcal{B}_n = \langle \hat{\mathcal{B}}_n \rangle_{\rho}$ . Then the question of which is the maximal quantum violation of a Boole inequality is answered by finding

$$\Omega_{\rm Q} = \max_{\rho, \hat{\mathcal{B}}_n} \operatorname{tr} \rho \hat{\mathcal{B}}_n,$$

where the maximization is done over all quantum states and all operators  $\mathcal{B}_n$  which respect the commutation relations implied by the marginal scenario. The first thing we notice is that since a mixed state is a convex combination of pure states, this maximum is always attained by a pure state. So

$$\Omega_{\mathbf{Q}} = \max_{\psi, \hat{\mathcal{B}}_n} \operatorname{tr} \psi \hat{\mathcal{B}}_n = \max_{\hat{\mathcal{B}}_n} \| \hat{\mathcal{B}}_n \|, \qquad (2.15)$$

since  $\hat{B}_n$  is a self-adjoint operator<sup>31</sup>. This is already useful, but not much, since it is not easy to find operators which implement the marginal scenario.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>Pitowsky found the inequalities for the 3-cycle in 1989 [73], but they can not be violated by quantum mechanics.

 $<sup>3^{1} \| \</sup>cdot \|$  is the standard operator norm, which can be calculated in polynomial time.

However, for a given  $\hat{B}_n$  we can find the maximal violation for it (and the state which attains it) simply by diagonalizing its matrix, which may be useful.

We have already hinted in the beginning of the previous section that a marginal scenario can be encoded as a graph<sup>32</sup>; however, those graphs are not detailed enough for our purposes, since they do not specify the structure of the observables down to the level of their projectors. For that, we shall need a graph that takes into account not only the questions to be asked, but also the answers: the CSW graph [54].

To define it, we need first to notice that any Boole inequality can be rewritten in the CSW form, as

$$\Sigma = \sum_{c_i} p(c_i | C_i) \le \Omega_{\text{NC}},$$
(2.16)

that is, as a sum of probabilities with coefficients +1. This can always be done, since we can just write the expectation values as probabilities, and  $-p(A = a) = p(A \neq a) - 1$ . For example, the term  $\pm \langle X_i X_j \rangle$  becomes

$$\pm \langle X_i X_j \rangle = 2 \bigg( p(+\pm |X_i, X_j) + p(-\mp |X_i, X_j) \bigg) - 1.$$
 (2.17)

It is easy to see that this representation is not unique. For example, we could write  $p(+ + | X_0, X_1)$  as

$$p(++|X_0, X_1) = p(+-1|X_0, X_1) + p(-|X_0),$$

but this does not matter, since any representation will be good enough for our purposes<sup>33</sup>. For example, the inequality (2.8a) for the 3-cycle is represented as

$$p(+-|01) + p(-+|01) + p(+-|12) + p(-+|12) + p(+-|20) \le 2, \quad (2.18)$$

where for clarity we're omitting the ones and the *X*s. In fact, all the inequalities (2.8) for the 3-cycle have this same representation, modulo relabellings.

Now, we're ready to define the CSW graph:

**Definition 42.** *The CSW graph of a Boole inequality in the CSW form is the graph that has the events*  $c_i | C_i$  *as vertices, with edges connecting exclusive events.* 

For example, the vertex + - |01 from inequality (2.18) will be connected to the vertices + - |12, - + |01, and + - |20. Its CSW graph is the prism graph represented in figure 2.3.

We're now almost ready to state the CSW theorem; we only need to define what is an orthonormal representation of a graph:

**Definition 43.** An orthonormal representation of a graph G with vertices  $V_i$  is an assignment of projectors  $\Gamma_i$  such that  $V_i$  adjacent to  $V_i$  implies that  $\Gamma_i\Gamma_i = 0$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>Actually, in the general case it must be an hypergraph: it is only a graph when the maximum number of observables in a context is two.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>The situation is more delicate when we're talking about nonlocality instead of contextuality; then the Lovász function (which we shall define shortly) of the CSW graph will be only an upper bound for the quantum violation [80].



Figure 2.3: CSW graph for the 3-cycle.

Then orthonormal representations of a CSW graph will be just the projectors associated to the events of the vertices, *i.e.*,

$$+ - |01 \mapsto \Pi_0^+ \Pi_1^- = \Gamma_i,$$

since projectors associated to exclusive events are orthogonal, and the product of commuting projectors is also a projector. Taking the sum over the expectation values of all such  $\Gamma_i$  is then just the quantum value of the inequality. The maximal such value is then

$$\Omega'_{Q} = \max_{\psi, \Gamma_{i}} \sum_{i} \operatorname{tr} \psi \Gamma_{i} = \max_{\Gamma_{i}} \left\| \sum_{i} \Gamma_{i} \right\|, \qquad (2.19)$$

where the maximization is done over all orthonormal representations of the CSW graph. We seem to have gotten back to equation (2.15) again, but that's not true: equation (2.19) is the definition of a famous graph-theoretical function, the Lovász  $\vartheta$  function<sup>34</sup> [81, 82]! It can be calculated in polynomial time via a SDP, and its value is known for some simple families of graphs. There's one caveat: the usual definition of the Lovász function requires the  $\Gamma_i$  to be one-dimensional projectors, and in our case this is not always true. But there is no gain in generality by allowing many-dimensional projectors, since we can always define one-dimensional projectors

$$\Gamma_i' = \frac{\Gamma_i \psi \Gamma_i}{\operatorname{tr} \psi \Gamma_i}$$

such  $\Gamma'_i$  are also an orthonormal representation of *G* and tr  $\psi \Gamma'_i$  = tr  $\psi \Gamma_i$  for every *i*, so equation (2.19) is in fact equivalent to the Lovász  $\vartheta$  function.

We can now state the main theorem from [54]:

**Theorem 44** (Cabello-Severini-Winter [54]). Let  $\Sigma$  be a Boole inequality represented in the CSW form, and G its CSW graph. Then in quantum mechanics

$$\max \Sigma = \Omega_O = \vartheta(G).$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>See theorem 5 in [81]. Note, however, that Lovász's definition of an orthonormal representation of a graph *G* is equivalent to our definition of an orthonormal representation of the complement graph  $\bar{G}$ .

#### 2.6.1 Tsirelson bounds for the *n*-cycle

As an application of theorem 44, we shall find the quantum bounds for the Boole inequalities found in section 2.5. As these inequalities only have terms  $\pm \langle X_i X_j \rangle$ , the transformation (2.17) will be enough to bring them to the form of inequality (2.16), so

$$\mathcal{B}_n = 2\Sigma - n$$

where  $\Sigma$  is the desired sum of probabilities. To find the CSW graph for odd n, the same strategy used in figure 2.3 works, so it will be the prism graph  $Y_n$ , and therefore the Tsirelson bound is  $2\vartheta(Y_n) - n$ . The Lovász function of the prism graph is<sup>35</sup>

$$\vartheta(Y_n) = \frac{2n\cos\frac{\pi}{n}}{1+\cos\frac{\pi}{n}},$$

thus proving that the quantum violation (2.13) is the largest possible.

To find the CSW graph for even *n*, the strategy is as represented in figure 2.4, where it is done for n = 4. It is clear that this strategy always works, so the CSW graph for even *n* is the Möbius ladder  $M_{2n}$ . Its Lovász function is<sup>36</sup>

$$\vartheta(M_{2n}) = \frac{n}{2} \left( 1 + \cos \frac{\pi}{n} \right)$$

thus proving that the quantum violation (2.14) is in fact the largest possible.



Figure 2.4: CSW graph for the 4-cycle.

#### 2.7 State-independent Boole inequalities

All the Boole inequalities we have studied so far have quantum violations that depend on the quantum state: they are violated by some, but not violated by others. This situation stands in contrast with the proofs of contextuality we studied in section 1.7: they only considered predictions of quantum mechanics that were valid for *any* state. Therefore, it would be quite surprising if we couldn't find a Boole inequality that were violated by *any* quantum state.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>As can be proved from the results of [54, 67].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>As can be proved from the results of [83].

#### 2.7.1 A Boole inequality from the 18-projector proof by Cabello, Estebaranz, and García-Alcaine

The 18-projector proof [40] translates quite directly into a state-independent Boole inequality [41]. To see that, define  $A_{ij} = 2v_{ij} - 1$ , where  $v_{ij}$  are the projectors from figure 1.2. Then if we take the product of four commuting such  $A_{ij}$ , it will be always equal to -1. Taking these products over all nine sets of commuting  $A_{ij}$  and adding them together, we get

$$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{18} = -A_{12}A_{16}A_{17}A_{18} - A_{12}A_{23}A_{28}A_{29} - A_{23}A_{34}A_{37}A_{39} - A_{34}A_{45}A_{47}A_{48} - A_{45}A_{56}A_{58}A_{59} - A_{16}A_{56}A_{67}A_{69} - A_{17}A_{37}A_{47}A_{67} - A_{18}A_{28}A_{48}A_{58} - A_{29}A_{39}A_{59}A_{69} = 91$$
(2.20)

but a computer program can easily check that in any noncontextual theory

$$\mathcal{I}_{18} = -\langle A_{12}A_{16}A_{17}A_{18} \rangle - \langle A_{12}A_{23}A_{28}A_{29} \rangle - \langle A_{23}A_{34}A_{37}A_{39} \rangle - \langle A_{34}A_{45}A_{47}A_{48} \rangle - \langle A_{45}A_{56}A_{58}A_{59} \rangle - \langle A_{16}A_{56}A_{67}A_{69} \rangle - \langle A_{17}A_{37}A_{47}A_{67} \rangle - \langle A_{18}A_{28}A_{48}A_{58} \rangle - \langle A_{29}A_{39}A_{59}A_{69} \rangle \le 7.$$
(2.21)

This Boole inequality is therefore violated by *any* quantum state.

#### 2.7.2 A Boole inequality from Yu and Oh's 13-projector proof

The projectors from Yu and Oh's 13-projector proof can also be used to form such a state-independent inequality [42], but their inequality is not a facet of the noncontextual polytope, and according to our definition not a Boole inequality at all. Fortunately, there *is* a Boole inequality associated to their projectors, found by Cabello *et al.* [43]. It reads

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_{YO} &= 2\langle H_0 \rangle + \sum_{i=1}^3 \langle Z_i \rangle + \langle Y_i^+ \rangle + \langle Y_i^- \rangle + 2\langle H_i \rangle \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^3 \langle Z_j Y_j^+ \rangle + \langle Y_j^+ Y_j^- \rangle + \langle Y_j^- Z_j \rangle \\ &- 3 \sum_{k=1}^3 \langle Z_k Y_k^+ Y_k^- \rangle - \sum_{C_i \in \mathcal{C}_2} \langle C_i \rangle \leq 25, \end{split}$$

where  $Z_i = \mathbb{1} - 2z_i$ ,  $Y_i^{\pm} = \mathbb{1} - 2y_i^{\pm}$ ,  $H_i = \mathbb{1} - 2h_i$ , as defined in section 1.7.2, and  $C_2$  is the subset of two-observable contexts of Yu and Oh's marginal scenario. The operator  $\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{YO} = (25 + 8/3)\mathbb{1}$  is again proportional to identity, and this inequality is the one in Yu and Oh's noncontextual polytope with the largest relative Tsirelson. As this inequality was found by a computer program we feel no need of reproducing a proof here.

#### 2.7.3 A Boole inequality from the Peres-Mermin square

Peres-Mermin's proof can also be adapted into such an inequality. Let  $A_{ij}$  be the observables of the Peres-Mermin square as defined in equation (1.10).

Then it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{\mathcal{I}}_{PM} &= A_{11}A_{12}A_{13} + A_{21}A_{22}A_{23} + A_{31}A_{32}A_{33} \\ &\quad + A_{11}A_{21}A_{31} + A_{12}A_{22}A_{32} - A_{13}A_{23}A_{33} = 61, \end{aligned}$$

but a computer program<sup>37</sup> can easily check that

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_{PM} &= \langle A_{11}A_{12}A_{13} \rangle + \langle A_{21}A_{22}A_{23} \rangle + \langle A_{31}A_{32}A_{33} \rangle \\ &+ \langle A_{11}A_{21}A_{31} \rangle + \langle A_{12}A_{22}A_{32} \rangle - \langle A_{13}A_{23}A_{33} \rangle \leq 4. \end{split}$$

This Boole inequality was also found by Adán Cabello [41].

Note that in all these inequalities the operator  $\hat{\mathcal{I}}$  was proportional to identity, but this is not a required condition for a state-independent violation: we only need  $\langle \hat{\mathcal{I}} \rangle_{\psi}$  to be larger than the noncontextual bound for every  $\psi$ . It is an open question if there is a Boole inequality that satisfies the latter condition but not the former<sup>38</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>Or in fact yourself, by some playing around with the triangle inequality.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup>It is trivial, however, to generate such inequalities that are not facets of the noncontextual polytope.

## Conclusion

The attentive reader might have noticed that despite hints of *quantum magic* as the motivation for this thesis, there has been almost no mention of it in the technical parts of the text. In part this is because of the limitations of time and space, but more importantly because I believe that to really understand *quantum magic*, we must understand the foundations of quantum mechanics first; and this latter understanding is still sorely lacking. The goal of this thesis was therefore to help with this point.

This goal can be naturally split in two parts (if not in two chapters): first, to summarize old research in a clear and consistent way, and second (and more important), to expose new research that is not as widely known as I think it deserves to be.

Specifically, I hope to have convinced the reader that the formulation of noncontextuality exposed in chapter 2 is a fruitful way of separating "classical" phenomena from those that are truly quantum. The way ahead is to actually pick up those fruits: develop information processing protocols that derive their strenght from the violation of Boole inequalities. In a sense, this work has already begun: we know that the higher-than-classical power of quantum random access codes comes from contextuality [84], and [67] has a very colourful description of a game in which contextuality boosts the chance of success.

But, in my opinion, these protocols lack a deeper appeal, since it's not clear if the fact that they have a quantum advantage means anything other than the fact that they have a quantum advantage. What would really please me is to find a connection between contextuality and a discovery that has far-reaching implications in physics, mathematics, and computer science: quantum computing.

### Appendix A

### The Bell-Mermin model

This ontological model was first proposed by Bell in 1964 [4], in order to provide a counterexample to von Neumann's theorem [15], and later cleaned up by David Mermin [5]. It is certainly the simplest deterministic ontological model out there, having been constructed to describe the statistics coming from the measurement of any observable of a pure qubit. It is not contextual, but if extended to mixed states it would have to be preparation-contextual, by Spekkens' theorem, and if extended to higher dimensions it would become measurement-contextual, by Gleason's theorem. It also can't be extended to describe POVMs, by Busch's theorem. In a sense, then, it is the best that a realist commited to non-contextuality can do.

This model is quite out of fashion, as it measures observables instead of its projectors; but we shall make no violence to it by "fixing" this feature. The concerned reader may do it himself quite easily, or simply consult Harrigan's work [8].

We formulate it by representing a two-dimensional self-adjoint observable *A* in the Bloch basis, as

$$A = a_0 \mathbb{1} + a \cdot \sigma,$$

where  $a_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $a \in \mathbb{R}^3$  and  $\sigma$  is the vector of Pauli matrices.

The ontic space  $\Lambda = S^2 \times S^2$  is the cartesian product of two unit spheres. In the first one we shall embed the pure states via their Bloch vector  $\hat{\psi} \in S^2$ , defined by  $\psi = \frac{1}{2}(\mathbb{1} + \hat{\psi} \cdot \sigma)$ , and in the second one we shall use an auxiliar unit vector  $\lambda$ .

The ontic state is then

$$\mu_{\psi} = \delta(\lambda_{\psi} - \hat{\psi}),$$

and the response function is

$$\xi_A(\lambda_{\psi}, \lambda) = a_0 + \|a\| \operatorname{sign}(a \cdot (\lambda + \lambda_{\psi})). \tag{A.1}$$

Notice that given  $\lambda_{\psi}$  and  $\lambda$ , it gives deterministically  $a_0 + ||a||$  or  $a_0 - ||a||$ , as required.

To recover the quantum statistics, we take the uniform average of  $\xi_A$  over  $\Lambda$ :

$$\begin{split} \langle A \rangle &= \int_{\Lambda} \mu_{\psi} \xi_{A} \\ &= a_{0} + \|a\| \int_{\Lambda} d\lambda_{\psi} \, d\lambda \, \delta(\lambda_{\psi} - \hat{\psi}) \operatorname{sign}(\hat{a} \cdot (\lambda + \lambda_{\psi})) \\ &= a_{0} + \|a\| \int_{S^{2}} d\lambda \, \operatorname{sign}(\hat{a} \cdot (\lambda + \hat{\psi})) \\ &= a_{0} + \|a\| \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\pi} \sin \theta_{a\lambda} \, d\theta_{a\lambda} \, d\varphi \, \operatorname{sign}(\cos \theta_{a\lambda} + \hat{a} \cdot \hat{\psi}) \\ &= a_{0} + \|a\| \frac{1}{2} \left( \int_{0}^{\cos^{-1}(-\hat{a} \cdot \hat{\psi})} \sin \theta_{a\lambda} \, d\theta_{a\lambda} - \int_{\cos^{-1}(-\hat{a} \cdot \hat{\psi})}^{\pi} \sin \theta_{a\lambda} \, d\theta_{a\lambda} \right) \\ &= a_{0} + a \cdot \hat{\psi} \\ &= \operatorname{tr} A \psi \end{split}$$

# Bibliography

- C. A. Fuchs. 'Quantum Mechanics as Quantum Information (and only a little more)' (2002). arXiv:quant-ph/0205039.
- [2] M. Nielsen and I. Chuang. *Quantum Computation and Quantum Information.* Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- [3] L. Hardy. 'Quantum Theory From Five Reasonable Axioms' (2001). arXiv:quant-ph/0101012.
- [4] J. S. Bell. 'On the Problem of Hidden Variables in Quantum Mechanics'. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 38 447–452 (1966).
- [5] N. D. Mermin. 'Hidden variables and the two theorems of John Bell'. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 65 803–815 (1993).
- [6] G. Mauro D'Ariano, P. Lo Presti and P. Perinotti. 'Classical randomness in quantum measurements'. *J. Phys. A: Math. Gen.* **38** 5979–5991 (2005). arXiv:quant-ph/0408115.
- [7] E. G. Beltrametti and S. Bugajski. 'A classical extension of quantum mechanics'. *J. Phys. A: Math. Gen.* **28** 3329 (1995).
- [8] N. Harrigan and R. Spekkens. 'Einstein, Incompleteness, and the Epistemic View of Quantum States'. *Found. Phys.* 40 125–157 (2010). arXiv:0706. 2661 [quant-ph].
- [9] F. Strocchi. 'The physical principles of quantum mechanics. A critical review'. *Eur. Phys. J. Plus* **127** 12 (2012). arXiv:1112.1507 [quant-ph].
- [10] L. Hardy. 'Quantum ontological excess baggage'. *Stud. Hist. Phil. Sci. B* 35 267–276 (2004).
- [11] R. W. Spekkens. 'Contextuality for preparations, transformations, and unsharp measurements'. *Phys. Rev. A* 71 052108 (2005). arXiv:quantph/0406166.
- [12] M. Leifer. 'Can the quantum state be interpreted statistically?' (2011). URL: http://mattleifer.info/2011/11/20/can-the-quantum-statebe-interpreted-statistically/.
- [13] A. Einstein, B. Podolsky and N. Rosen. 'Can Quantum-Mechanical Description of Physical Reality Be Considered Complete?' *Phys. Rev.* 47 777–780 (1935).
- [14] S. Kochen and E. Specker. 'The problem of hidden variables in quantum mechanics'. J. Math. Mech. 17 59–87 (1967).

- [15] J. von Neumann. Mathematische Grundlagen der Quantenmechanik. 1932.
- [16] T. Rudolph. 'Ontological Models for Quantum Mechanics and the Kochen-Specker theorem' (2006). arXiv:quant-ph/0608120.
- [17] C. M. Caves, C. A. Fuchs and R. Schack. 'Conditions for compatibility of quantum-state assignments'. *Phys. Rev. A* 66 062111 (2002). arXiv:quantph/0206110.
- [18] M. F. Pusey, J. Barrett and T. Rudolph. 'The quantum state cannot be interpreted statistically' (2011). arXiv:1111.3328v1 [quant-ph].
- [19] K. Popper. Logik der Forschung (The Logic of Scientific Discovery). Mohr Siebeck (Routledge), 1934 (1959).
- [20] S. J. Freedman and J. F. Clauser. 'Experimental Test of Local Hidden-Variable Theories'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 28 938–941 (1972).
- [21] M. Michler, H. Weinfurter and M. Żukowski. 'Experiments towards Falsification of Noncontextual Hidden Variable Theories'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 84 5457–5461 (2000).
- [22] A. K. Ekert. 'Quantum cryptography based on Bell's theorem'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **67** 661–663 (1991).
- [23] H. Bechmann-Pasquinucci and A. Peres. 'Quantum Cryptography with 3-State Systems'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 85 3313–3316 (2000). arXiv:quant-ph/ 0001083.
- [24] J. S. Bell. 'On the Einstein-Poldolsky-Rosen paradox'. Physics 1 195–200 (1964).
- [25] J. F. C. and. A Shimony. 'Bell's theorem. Experimental tests and implications'. *Reports on Progress in Physics* 41 1881 (1978).
- [26] A. Peres and A. Ron. 'Cryptodeterminism and quantum theory'. Microphysical Reality and Quantum Formalism: Proceedings of the Conference "Microphysical Reality and Quantum Formalism", Urbino, Italy, September 25th-October 3rd, 1985. Ed. by A. Van Der Merwe, F. Selleri and G. Tarozzi. Fundamental theories of physics. Kluwer Academic, 1988, pp. 115– 123.
- [27] A. Gleason. 'Measures on the Closed Subspaces of a Hilbert Space'. J. Math. Mech. 6 885–893 (1957). URL: http://www.iumj.indiana.edu/ IUMJ/FULLTEXT/1957/6/56050.
- [28] P. Busch. 'Quantum States and Generalized Observables: A Simple Proof of Gleason's Theorem'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **91** 120403 (2003). arXiv:quantph/9909073.
- [29] R. Alicki and N. V. Ryn. 'A simple test of quantumness for a single system'. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 41 062001 (2008). arXiv:0704.1962 [quant-ph].
- [30] M. Żukowski. 'Unexpected reemergence of the von Neumann theorem'. *Phys. Rev. A* **79** 024103 (2009). arXiv:0809.0115 [quant-ph].
- [31] P. Busch. 'Resurrection of von Neumann's No-Hidden-Variables Theorem' (1999). arXiv:quant-ph/9909073v1.

- [32] D. A. Meyer. 'Finite Precision Measurement Nullifies the Kochen-Specker Theorem'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 83 3751–3754 (1999).
- [33] I. Pitowsky. 'Deterministic model of spin and statistics'. *Phys. Rev. D* **27** 2316–2326 (1983).
- [34] C. M. Caves, C. A. Fuchs, K. K. Manne and J. M. Renes. 'Gleason-Type Derivations of the Quantum Probability Rule for Generalized Measurements'. *Found. Phys.* 34 193–209 (2004). arXiv:quant-ph/0306179.
- [35] E. Specker. 'Die Logik nicht gleichzeitig entscheidbarer Aussagen'. *Dialectica* 14 239–246 (1960).
- [36] M. P. Seevinck. 'E. Specker: "The logic of non-simultaneously decidable propositions" (1960)' (2011). arXiv:1103.4537.
- [37] A. Cabello. 'Pruebas algebraicas de imposibilidad de variables ocultas en mecánica cuántica'. PhD Thesis. 1996. URL: http://faeuat0.us.es/ Adan/Carpetas/Publications/B003Tesis.pdf.
- [38] A. Cabello. 'How many questions do you need to prove that unasked questions have no answers?' *Int. J. Quant. Info.* **4** 55 (2006).
- [39] F. Arends, J. Ouaknine and C. W. Wampler. 'On searching for small Kochen-Specker vector systems'. Proceedings of the 37th international conference on Graph-Theoretic Concepts in Computer Science. WG'11. Springer-Verlag, 2011, pp. 23–34.
- [40] A. Cabello, J. M. Estebaranz and G. García-Alcaine. 'Bell-Kochen-Specker theorem: A proof with 18 vectors'. *Phys. Lett. A* 212 183–187 (1996). arXiv:quant-ph/9706009.
- [41] A. Cabello. 'Experimentally Testable State-Independent Quantum Contextuality'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **101** 210401 (2008). arXiv:0808.2456 [quant-ph].
- [42] S. Yu and C. H. Oh. 'State-Independent Proof of Kochen-Specker Theorem with 13 Rays'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **108** 030402 (2012). arXiv:1109.4396 [quant-ph].
- [43] A. Cabello, C. Budroni, O. Gühne, M. Kleinmann and J.-A. Larsson. 'Tight inequalities for qutrit state-independent contextuality' (2012). arXiv:1204.3741 [quant-ph].
- [44] A. Peres. 'Incompatible results of quantum measurements'. *Phys. Lett. A* 151 107 –108 (1990).
- [45] N. D. Mermin. 'Simple unified form for the major no-hidden-variables theorems'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **65** 3373–3376 (1990).
- [46] D. Bohm. 'A Suggested Interpretation of the Quantum Theory in Terms of "Hidden" Variables. I'. *Phys. Rev.* 85 166–179 (1952).
- [47] R. W. Spekkens. 'Evidence for the epistemic view of quantum states: A toy theory'. *Phys. Rev. A* **75** 032110 (2007).
- [48] Goldstern (mathoverflow.net/users/14915). Cardinality of a certain set of distinct subsets of N. MathOverflow. URL: http://mathoverflow.net/ questions/95926.

- [49] P. G. Lewis, D. Jennings, J. Barrett and T. Rudolph. 'The quantum state can be interpreted statistically' (2012). arXiv:1201.6554 [quant-ph].
- [50] S. Aaronson (mathoverflow.net/users/2575). "psi-epistemic theories" in 3 or more dimensions. MathOverflow. URL: http://mathoverflow.net/ questions/95735.
- [51] A. Brandenburger and N. Yanofsky. 'A classification of hidden-variable properties'. *J. Phys. A: Math. Theor.* **41** 425302 (2008). arXiv:0711.4650 [quant-ph].
- [52] A. Klyachko. 'Coherent states, entanglement, and geometric invariant theory' (2002). arXiv:quant-ph/0206012.
- [53] A. A. Klyachko, M. A. Can, S. Binicioğlu and A. S. Shumovsky. 'Simple Test for Hidden Variables in Spin-1 Systems'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **101** 020403 (2008). arXiv:0706.0126 [quant-ph].
- [54] A. Cabello, S. Severini and A. Winter. '(Non-)Contextuality of Physical Theories as an Axiom' (2010). arXiv:1010.2163 [quant-ph].
- [55] S. Abramsky and A. Brandenburger. 'The sheaf-theoretic structure of non-locality and contextuality'. *New J. Phys* **13** 113036 (2011). arXiv:1102. 0264 [quant-ph].
- [56] P. Kurzynski, R. Ramanathan and D. Kaszlikowski. 'Entropic test of quantum contextuality' (2012). arXiv:1201.2865 [quant-ph].
- [57] T. Fritz and R. Chaves. 'Entropic Inequalities and the Marginal Problem' (2011). arXiv:1112.4788 [cs.IT].
- [58] R. Chaves and T. Fritz. 'Entropic approach to local realism and noncontextuality'. *Phys. Rev. A* **85** 032113 (2012). arXiv:1201.3340 [quant-ph].
- [59] G. Boole. 'On the theory of probabilities'. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond.* **152** 225–252 (1862).
- [60] J. S. Bell. 'Bertlmann's socks and the nature of reality'. J. Phys. Colloq. 42 C2.41–C2.62 (1981). URL: http://cdsweb.cern.ch/record/142461.
- [61] M. T. Quintino. 'Box new world'. Master's thesis. 2012.
- [62] F. Strocchi. *An introduction to the mathematical structure of quantum mechanics: a short course for mathematicians*. Advanced series in mathematical physics. World Scientific, 2008.
- [63] A. Fine. 'Hidden Variables, Joint Probability, and the Bell Inequalities'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **48** 291–295 (1982).
- [64] R. Ramanathan, A. Soeda, P. Kurzynski and D. Kaszlikowski. 'Monogamy of contextuality' (2012). arXiv:1201.5836 [quant-ph].
- [65] B. S. Tsirelson. 'Some results and problems on quantum Bell-type inequalities'. *Hadronic J. Suppl.* 8 329–345 (1993). URL: http://www.tau.ac. il/~tsirel/download/hadron.html.
- [66] J. Barrett, N. Linden, S. Massar, S. Pironio, S. Popescu and D. Roberts. 'Nonlocal correlations as an information-theoretic resource'. *Phys. Rev. A* 71 022101 (2005). arXiv:quant-ph/0404097.

- [67] Y.-C. Liang, R. W. Spekkens and H. M. Wiseman. 'Specker's parable of the overprotective seer: A road to contextuality, nonlocality and complementarity'. *Phys. Rep.* **506** 1–39 (2011). arXiv:1010.1273 [quant-ph].
- [68] A. Kent. 'Noncontextual Hidden Variables and Physical Measurements'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 83 3755–3757 (1999).
- [69] G. Ziegler. Lectures on Polytopes. Springer-Verlag, 1994.
- [70] D. Avis and K. Fukuda. 'A pivoting algorithm for convex hulls and vertex enumeration of arrangements and polyhedra'. *Discrete & Computational Geometry* 8 295–313 (1992). URL: http://cgm.cs.mcgill.ca/ ~avis/doc/avis/AF90a.pdf.
- [71] D. Avis. lrs. URL: http://cgm.cs.mcgill.ca/~avis/C/lrs.html.
- [72] I. Pitowsky. 'George Boole's "Conditions of Possible Experience" and the Quantum Puzzle'. Br. J. Philos. Sci. 45 95–125 (1994). URL: http: //edelstein.huji.ac.il/staff/pitowsky/papers/Paper23.pdf.
- [73] I. Pitowsky. *Quantum Probability Quantum Logic*. Lecture notes in physics. Springer-Verlag, 1989.
- [74] M. Araújo, M. T. Quintino, C. Budroni, M. Terra Cunha and A. Cabello. 'Complete characterization of the n-cycle noncontextual polytope' (2012). arXiv:1206.3212 [quant-ph].
- [75] S. L. Braunstein and C. M. Caves. 'Wringing out better Bell inequalities'. Nucl. Phys. B - Proceedings Supplements 6 211 –221 (1989).
- [76] J. F. Clauser, M. A. Horne, A. Shimony and R. A. Holt. 'Proposed Experiment to Test Local Hidden-Variable Theories'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 23 880–884 (1969).
- [77] B. S. Cirel'son. 'Quantum generalizations of Bell's inequality'. Letters in Mathematical Physics 4 93–100 (1980).
- [78] A. Aspect, J. Dalibard and G. Roger. 'Experimental Test of Bell's Inequalities Using Time- Varying Analyzers'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 49 1804–1807 (1982).
- [79] R. Łapkiewicz, P. Li, C. Schaeff, N. K. Langford, S. Ramelow, M. Wiesniak and A. Zeilinger. 'Experimental non-classicality of an indivisible quantum system'. *Nature* 474 490–493 (2011).
- [80] M. Sadiq, P. Badziag, M. Bourennane and A. Cabello. 'The most elementary Bell inequalities' (2011). arXiv:1106.4754 [quant-ph].
- [81] L. Lovasz. 'On the Shannon capacity of a graph'. *Information Theory, IEEE Transactions on* **25** 1 –7 (1979).
- [82] D. Knuth. 'The Sandwich Theorem'. Elec. J. Comb. 1 0–48 (1994). URL: http://www.combinatorics.org/ojs/index.php/eljc/article/view/ v1i1a1.
- [83] S. Wehner. 'Tsirelson bounds for generalized Clauser-Horne-Shimony-Holt inequalities'. *Phys. Rev. A* **73** 022110 (2006).
- [84] E. F. Galvão. 'Foundations of quantum theory and quantum information applications'. PhD thesis. Dec. 2002. arXiv:quant-ph/0212124.